
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee
Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday 13 June 2019
Time: 5.00 pm
Venue: Conference Chamber West (FR1-09)

West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds

Full Members: Chair David Nettleton
Vice Chair Simon Cole

Conservative
Group(9)

Simon Brown
Mike Chester
Patrick Chung
Terry Clements
Simon Cole

Stephen Frost
Joe Mason
Richard Rout
Marion Rushbrook

Spectrum Group 
(3)

Tony Brown
Lisa Ingwall King

David Nettleton

The Independent 
Group (3)

Michael Anderson
Paul Hopfensperger

Ian Shipp

Labour Group (1) Diane Hind

Substitutes: Conservative
Group(4)

John Augustine
Mary Evans

Clive Springett
Jim Thorndyke

Spectrum Group 
(2)

Trevor Beckwith Jim Meikle

The Independent 
Group (1)

To be confirmed

Labour Group (1) Cliff Waterman
Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's register 
or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any item of 
business on the agenda (subject to the exception for sensitive 
information) and to leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting 
on an item in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum: Six Members
Committee 
administrator:

Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Tel: 01638 719729
Email: christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

mailto:christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Public Information

Venue: West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk
IP33 3YU

T: 01638 719729
E: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
W: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Access to agenda 
and reports 
before the 
meeting:

Copies of the agenda and reports are open for public inspection at the above 
and following address:
West Suffolk Council
College Heath Road
Mildenhall
Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk IP28 7EY

at least five clear days before the meeting. They are also available to view on 
our website.

Attendance at 
meetings:

The Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend 
its meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.

Public 
participation:

Members of the public who live or work in the District are welcome to speak 
and may ask one question or make a statement of not more than three 
minutes duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda 
only.  If a question is asked and answered within three minutes, the person 
who asked the question may ask a supplementary question that arises from 
the reply.

A person who wishes to speak must register at least 15 minutes before the 
time the meeting is scheduled to start.

There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking, which may be 
extended at the Chair’s discretion.

Disabled access: West Suffolk House has facilities for people with mobility impairments 
including a lift and wheelchair accessible WCs. However in the event of an 
emergency use of the lift is restricted for health and safety reasons. 

Visitor parking is at the car park at the front of the building and there are a 
number of accessible spaces.

Induction loop: An Induction loop is available for meetings held in the Conference Chamber. 
 

Recording of 
meetings:

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of the public and 
media to record or broadcast it as well (when the media and public are not 
lawfully excluded).

Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed 
should advise the Committee Administrator who will instruct that they are not 
included in the filming.

Personal 
Information

Any personal information processed by West Suffolk Council arising from a 
request to speak at a public meeting under the Localism Act 2011, will be 
protected in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018.  For more 
information on how we do this and your rights in regards to your personal 
information and how to access it, visit our website: 
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinfo
rmation.cfm or call Customer Services: 01284 763233 and ask to speak to the 
Information Governance Officer.

mailto:democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cfm
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/howweuseinformation.cfm


Page No

Agenda

Procedural Matters

1.  Substitutes

Any Member who is substituting for another Member should so 
indicate, together with the name of the relevant absent Member.

2.  Apologies for Absence 

Part 1 – Public 

3.  Public Participation

Members of the public who live or work in the District are 
welcome to speak and may ask one question or make a 
statement of not more than three minutes duration relating to 
items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda only.  If a question 
is asked and answered within three minutes, the person who 
asked the question may ask a supplementary question that arises 
from the reply.

A person who wishes to speak must register at least 15 minutes 
before the time the meeting is scheduled to start.

There is an overall limit of 15 minutes for public speaking, which 
may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.

4.  Community Safety Monitoring Report 1 - 14

Report No: OAS/WS/19/001

The Chair of the Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership, 
Councillor Joanna Spicer has been invited to the meeting to 
present the report to the Committee.

5.  Draft West Suffolk Councils' Annual Report (2018-2019) 15 - 68

Report No: OAS/WS/19/002

The Leader of the Council, Councillor John Griffiths has been 
invited to the meeting to present the report to the Committee.

6.  Cabinet Decisions Plan: 7 May 2019 to 31 May 2020 69 - 86

Report No: OAS/WS/19/003



Page No

7.  Appointments to the Suffolk County Council Health 
Scrutiny Committee (2019-2020)

87 - 92

Report No: OAS/WS/19/004

8.  Developing an Effective Scrutiny Work Programme (Verbal 
Discussion) 

Part 2 – Exempt

NONE



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

Community Safety 
Monitoring Report 
Report No: OAS/WS/19/001
Report to and date: Overview and Scrutiny  

Committee 13 June 2019

Cabinet Member: Councillor Robert Everitt
Tel: 01284 769000
Email: Robert.everitt@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer: Davina Howes
Assistant Director (Families and Communities)
Tel: 01284 757070
Email: davina.howes@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

Wards impacted: 

This item is not included in the Decisions Plan.

All

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that, 

(1) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
consider and discuss the information 
outlined in this report.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Robert.everitt@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:davina.howes@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

1. Background / Context

1.1 Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) were introduced in 1998 under 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and amended by the Police 
Reform Act 2002.  A CSP is a statutory body made up of the following 
partner organisations; police, local authorities, probation, clinical 
commissioning group and fire and rescue services.  Western Suffolk CSP 
covers West Suffolk Council, Babergh and Mid Suffolk council areas. 
Representatives from the Youth Justice Service and Registered Social 
Landlords have been co-opted to the partnership.

1.2 Over the past year the Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership 
(WSCSP) continued to meet and discharge its statutory duties by:

 carrying out an assessment of crime and disorder in the area;
 continuing to deliver the three year plan and actin plan to reflect the 

priorities of the Partnership; and 
 carrying out Domestic Homicide Reviews.

1.3 In May 2018, the WSCSP considered its priorities for 2018 -2019. Based on 
the outcomes of partnership discussions and a strategic assessment of crime, 
the following priorities were identified as the focus for the WSCSP:

a) County Lines drugs markets established by criminals from out of the 
county. This includes supporting victims of substance misuse, tackling 
drug dealing and supply, safeguarding vulnerable adults at risk of 
‘cuckooing’, and young people being used to ‘run’ drugs and who could 
be sexually exploited.

b) Violence against Women and Girls (including men and boys).  
This includes domestic abuse, sexual violence, modern day slavery 
and sexual exploitation.

c) Domestic Homicide reviews, including ensuring that the WSCSP 
continues to carry out effective reviews, refines processes and shares 
learning across Suffolk.

d) Hate Crime – this includes the identification and support for victims 
of hate crime by raising awareness and building confidence in 
reporting hate crime incidences.

e) Prevent - this is one of the stands of the Government’s CONTEST 
strategy to counter extremism and terrorism.  The ‘prevent’ stand 
aims to raise awareness to stop people becoming drawn into terrorism 
and ensure that they are given appropriate advice and support at an 
early stage.

1.4 Section two of this report provides more detail of the progress made to 
implement and/or address these priorities. 

Page 2



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

2.

2.1

2.1.1

Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership Priorities

County Lines

The name ‘county line’ refers to the phone number (line) often used by 
urban street gangs (USG) to control and facilitate drug dealing in more rural 
locations.  County Lines activity underpins serious and organised crime, 
which results in links to other criminal activity such as child and adult sexual 
exploitation, trafficking and modern day slavery.

County Lines activity is distinctively different to local drug activity due to the 
high levels of violence demonstrated and the involvement of young children 
groomed to be ‘runners’ and carry weapons.  

County Lines are operating in Suffolk and the number of lines varies at any 
given moment. In Western Suffolk there is somewhere between 17 and 25 
lines operating. This is an indicative figure only and frequently changes. 

The Suffolk Children’s Safeguarding Board is using the following guidance 
when identifying gangs and gang culture:

Urban Street Gangs are defined as a relatively durable, predominantly 
street-based group of young people who: 

 see themselves (and are seen by others) as a discernible group; 
 engage in a range of criminal activity and violence;  
 identify with or lay claim over territory;
 have some form of identifying structural feature; and  
 are in conflict with other, similar, gangs.

In Western Suffolk there is not currently an identified issue with urban street 
gangs (USG), but there are emerging gang culture behaviours seen within 
the cohort of young people who are involved, or on the periphery of being 
involved. 

Suffolk Response to County Lines

In 2017 Suffolk Police carried out a threat assessment, which observed that 
street gangs from London dominated the supply of class ‘A’ drugs to Ipswich 
and other towns. It also noted that young people from Suffolk were being 
‘groomed’ into becoming involved in drug running to end users initially by 
befriending and gifts but then increasingly by coercion, violence and threats. 
Their risk of coming to harm was high. These concerns were shared by other 
statutory agencies including Youth Offending Service (YOS) and Children and 
Young People’s services (CYP).

As a result of these concerns, Suffolk Public Leaders agreed that in 
conjunction with partners, a Suffolk Strategic Action Plan should be 
developed and agreed.  This should be supported by local tactical action 
plans, which would be delivered by the relevant Community Safety 
Partnership.  A former representative from the National Crime Agency helped 
partners to produce the strategic plan for Suffolk and develop the local 

Page 3



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

2.1.2

tactical action plan, through a series of meetings and workshops with 
stakeholders from all sectors. 

As part of the Suffolk Strategic Plan, a county-wide gang’s coordinator was 
appointed in January 2019 and a multi-agency team developed to embed 
knowledge and expertise in local areas and to support working with young 
people already involved in this activity.  

Western Suffolk CSP Tactical Action Plan

The WSCSP TAP has six objectives, which are largely focused on working in 
the preventative space:

1)  Communications – a communications strategy to manage incident and 
media enquiries and to raise awareness of success has been developed.  
Consistent messaging to reassure communities that agencies are working 
together and have clear pathways for reporting and the sharing of 
intelligence to safeguard our young people and adults at risk.

2)  Training and awareness –a training and awareness partnership plan has 
been developed.  Raising awareness of County Lines has been undertaken 
to ensure that appropriate levels of training has been delivered across the 
partnership. Sessions have included; what is a county line; how is it 
different from local drug activity; what to look for; how to report issues 
and share intelligence and how to support those who may become 
involved. Sessions have been delivered to children’s services, adult care 
services, GPs, hospitals, elected members, local authority staff, probation 
and rehabilitation services and the voluntary and community sector. 
Further sessions are planned with mental and sexual health practitioners.  
Train the trainer sessions have been held to ensure sustainability and 
consistency of message across all partners including schools.  An online 
training and awareness package is being developed for use across the 
partnership.

3)   Engagement –an engagement plan for educational settings and 
communities has been developed. It has been a priority to ensure that 
schools and colleges receive the appropriate information delivered by a 
variety of means to pupils, staff, governors and parents.  A series of age 
appropriate sessions have been delivered by commissioned organisations 
and partners to upper schools.  Primary schools are being supported 
through their feeder upper schools, however further support will be 
available for any school that has a particular identified issued. 

Bespoke packages are being designed for use in Pupil Referral Units in 
conjunction with head teachers and internal officers from the partnership.  
Home Schooled children are also receiving information through Suffolk 
County Council Home school coordinators.  Work to encompass those 
children who are excluded from school is being delivered through the Suffolk 
Strategic action plan.  

Community awareness raising is in the planning stage for identified key 
areas, working with local community groups and connectors. This will focus 
on awareness raising, what to look for and how to report concerns.

Page 4



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

2.2

2.2.1

4)   Information, data and intelligence – it is important to ensure that 
appropriate and time critical information is shared across the Community 
Safety Partnership. To this end a central knowledge and information hub 
for practitioners has been developed to create a central ‘library’ of 
supporting materials for partners to ensure that consistent messaging is 
being delivered and reduce duplication. Police continue to collect 
intelligence to identify county lines activity and those involved at every 
level of the organised crime group.  Drug litter finds are logged and 
collated across services to create a map of locations for dealing or using.

5)   Diversion and exit – The county-wide Youth and Gangs Team have 
developed three multi- agency case conferencing panels across Suffolk.  
The West Suffolk Panel met for the first time in February 2019 and 
continue to meet monthly to case manage high risk individual young 
people associated with County Lines. This enables a multi-agency 
consistent and coordinated approach when responding and supporting 
those who are already involved or at risk of becoming involved in County 
Lines activity. 

6)  Enforcement – Enforcement activity of Class A and County Line crime 
continues to be managed via the monthly Operation Velocity meeting 
chaired by the Western Area Superintendent. All intelligence is assessed 
and active county lines are prioritised. This allows the Police to direct 
resources to those drug dealing gangs causing the greatest threat and 
harm. Typically there are between 17 to 25 County Lines will be operating 
within Western Suffolk, frequently moving between towns and requiring a 
flexible and rapid policing response.

The Police in West Suffolk have created a network of officers whose aim is to 
develop intelligence, raise awareness amongst colleagues and take positive 
action in the form of misuse of drugs warrants and disruption visits. This 
approach has proven successful in focussing front line staff to this critical 
area of business. 

The proactive West Scorpion Team and the Constabulary’s Serious Crime 
Disruption Team employ a range of tactics to monitor, arrest and prosecute 
drugs operations and supplement localised work. Specifically, in the past 12 
months 118 persons have been arrested in relation to County Lines drug 
dealing in Western Suffolk; 102 searches have been conducted of either a 
person or a vehicle; 108 warrants/disruption visits to addresses involved in 
County Lines drug dealing; drugs worth a minimum of £24,000 have been 
seized; cash totalling £35,698 has been seized; and 3089 intelligence 
reports have been submitted by Western Area staff.  

Violence Against Women and Girls (including men and boys)

Violence against Women and Girls National Strategy

In 2016 the Home Office published the Government Strategy to tackle 
Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG).  Although not included in the 
Strategy name, it does include men and boys but accepts that this is a 
gendered issue predominately affecting women and girls.  Local authorities 

Page 5



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

2.2.2

were encouraged to complete the self-assessment toolkit which then fed in 
to a Suffolk wide Strategy.  In 2018 the Suffolk Violence Against Women and 
Girls, Men and Boys strategy was adopted.

As a result of this, a multi-agency VAWG steering group was established and 
an action plan agreed.  This meeting brings together the skills expertise and 
resources across Suffolk to look at the whole agenda rather than specific 
issues in isolation.  Over the past year, good progress has been made in 
relation to commissioning, governance and service improvement to help 
support those affected by domestic abuse. 

Suffolk wide projects which support victims of domestic abuse

1) Specialist Refuge: Satellite Accommodation 
A successful bid for government funding led to the award of £500,000 to 
establish 23 specialist satellite beds across Suffolk; four of these beds 
being across West and Central Suffolk.  The satellite refuge provides 
sanctuary for victims fleeing domestic abuse who are unable to access 
refuge due to complex needs such as substance dependency or mental 
health. This funding also provides a bed space in Ipswich for victims who 
have no recourse to public funds.  Although based in Ipswich this bed 
space is accessible to victims across Suffolk. In addition a specialist 
domestic abuse worker, employed by Anglia Care Trust now works 
within the West Suffolk Housing Team.  Since the project started, 51 
people have been supported (across Suffolk).

2) Target hardening
Funding has been pooled by partners across Suffolk to develop a 
county-wide target hardening scheme for victims of high risk domestic 
abuse.  The national charity Safe Partnership provides a crime reduction 
and fire risk survey, undertakes any security or arson reduction 
measures all in one visit and within 24 hours from referral. This ensures 
that the victim can remain as safe as possible in their own home.  This 
is risk assessed carefully and only those for whom it is safe will be 
offered this scheme.    The scheme commenced in April 2018 and by the 
end of January 2019 it had supported 90 high risk victims of domestic 
abuse to remain in their home, 33 of those victims were from West 
Suffolk (51 from within the WSCSP boundary).  

3) Domestic abuse champions
In 2018 funding was agreed by Public Sector Leaders to fund the Suffolk 
Domestic Abuse Champions Network.  This funding has been used to 
develop a model which enables a programme of training for champions 
within the community which will encourage early disclosure.  Through 
training provided by Domestic Abuse Champion Co-ordinators, 
champions will be identified as the “go to” person for information 
between their own agency and local support services.  The training 
programme will run for the next two years, with the commencement of 
the first round of training across Suffolk in June and July 2019.  West 
Suffolk Council will be reviewing their Domestic Abuse Support Policy 
and will identify appropriate officers to attend the training.  Alongside 
this the Families and Communities Officer (Families lead) will also be 

Page 6



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

2.3

2.4

engaging with partners to identify volunteers and partners who would 
also benefit from the training.

4) Suffolk Violence and Abuse Partnership
The Suffolk Violence and Abuse partnership is a group of professionals 
(statutory and voluntary sector), who work in the area of domestic 
abuse either with victims and/or perpetrators. Over the last 12 months 
the partnership has widened its remit to include sexual violence and 
abuse and has now become an informal meeting for partners to share 
best practice, network and provide a consistent Suffolk approach to 
domestic abuse. This partnership is actively supported by West Suffolk 
Council, with our Families and Communities Officer (Families lead) 
providing a resource to the partnership and also representing the council 
at the West Suffolk Domestic Abuse Partnership and the Suffolk VAWG 
steering group.  This provides a consistent approach for West Suffolk 
Council.

5) Suffolk Domestic Abuse Coordination Centre
The National Charity ‘Safe Lives’ has been appointed to help develop the 
Suffolk Co-ordination Centre model, funded by Public Sector Leaders.  
The model is based on creating a single point of access for victims to 
ensure appropriate support is given at the earliest opportunity.  
Recommendations on the proposed model are expected in July 2019.

6) West Suffolk Domestic Abuse Partnership
The partnership is made up of statutory and voluntary practitioners who 
are working within the area of domestic abuse.  West Suffolk Council 
support this partnership and take an active role at the meetings. The 
partnership meet quarterly to share best practice and network and is a 
way for programmes and projects within West Suffolk to be highlighted 
and raised as well as local organisations promoting their services. For 
example, Freedom Programmes are currently taking place in Brandon, 
Newmarket, Bury St Edmunds, Haverhill and will soon be launched in 
Mildenhall.   

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs)

Carrying out Domestic Homicide reviews is the responsibility of the local 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP), and is triggered when the death of a 
person aged 16 or over has, or appears to have, resulted in violence, abuse 
or neglect by a relative, household member or someone he or she has been 
in an intimate relationship with.

West Suffolk Council has not had any DHRs in this period but the WSCSP is 
supporting a number of reviews triggered by events in the Babergh/Mid 
Suffolk area.

Hate Crime

The Suffolk Hate Crime Network continues to be well attended by statutory 
and voluntary sector partners including West Suffolk Council and is moving 
forward in some collaborative approaches for 2019, including work to support 
National Hate Crime Awareness Week in October 2019. The purpose of the 

Page 7



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

2.5

      

week is to raise understanding and awareness of hate crime, including where 
to access support. 

Hate crime training sessions to raise awareness of hate crime have been held 
and delivered by ACE Anglia, Suffolk Refugee Support, YMCA Trinity, Suffolk 
Coalition of Disabled People and ISCRE.  It is anticipated that these sessions 
will have reached over 400 people.  There is also e-learning on Hate Crime 
available which is open and free to partners:   
https://suffolk.melearning.university/course_centre

PREVENT

In 2017 the government placed a statutory duty on a number of 
organisations including local authorities to prevent people from being drawn 
into terrorism and to consider local threat levels.

The Suffolk PREVENT Delivery Group brings together partners to acquit that 
duty which include, local authorities, prisons, probation, schools, university, 
colleges, health sector and police. Recommendations from the quarterly 
Counter Terrorism Local Profile are adopted into the Partnership Action Plan 
and work relating to the individual action, is completed by members of the 
group, including West Suffolk Council.

Trainers continue to deliver sessions to raise awareness of prevent across 
the County. Suffolk currently has over 80 practitioners trained to deliver 
training from a wide range of organisations. Since 2015 when training began 
over 8,000 people have attended a workshop. Three workshops were held in 
West Suffolk for 34 frontline staff during 2018 -2019.

A Suffolk PREVENT Conference was held on the 30 April 2019. 
All organisations in Suffolk which have a statutory duty to prevent people 
being drawn into terrorism were invited to attend the conference.  This 
included members of WSCSP and other organisations who work in the field of 
Safeguarding, PREVENT, Counter Terrorism and delivery of Workshop to 
Raise Awareness of PREVENT (WRAP). Over 160 people attended the 
conference. 

3.

3.1

4.

4.1

5.

5.1

Alternative Options 

None.

Consultation and engagement

The annual monitoring report draws on information from all partner agencies 
in relation to community safety issues.  Due to the sensitivity, some 
information remains restricted.

Risks

There are high to medium risks to our communities around any reduction in 
partnership working, including appropriate information sharing in relation to 
community safety.  This may arise due to loss of resources, return to silo 
working practices and non- engagement of partners.  This can be mitigated 

Page 8

https://suffolk.melearning.university/course_centre


Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 – OAS/WS/19/001

6.

by the continued commitment of the leadership team and elected members, 
to support partnership working and, to embed this into all areas West Suffolk 
Council’s activities.

Implications arising from the proposal (delete where either they are 
not relevant to the report or are already covered in the main report)

6.1 Financial - none

6.2 Legal Compliance – Community Safety Partnerships are statutory bodies are 
required to carry out a number of duties.  Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act requires Local Authorities to consider crime and disorder in all 
their functions. 

6.3 Personal Data Processing- Information sharing protocols are in place with 
Suffolk Police.  In addition information can be legally shared if it is shared in 
order to prevent or detect crime.

6.4 Equalities – N/A

6.5 Crime and Disorder – covered in the main body of the report.

6.6 Environmental or sustainability – N/A

6.7 HR / Staffing - None

6.8 Changes to existing policy - None

6.9 Impact on other organisations (e.g. community groups, businesses, partner 
organisations).  -  Community Safety Partnerships are statutory bodies with 
prescribed statutory partners who are required to be part of the partnership.

7.

7.1

Appendices 

Appendix A – Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership Plan 2019 -
2022.  This plan is required to reflect the Suffolk Police and Crime Plan 
published by the Police and Crime Commissioner.

8.

8.1

Background documents

The Suffolk Police and Crime Plan 2017 -2021 published by the Suffolk Police 
and Crime Commissioner. This plan is required to reflect the priorities 
Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership Plan.  The plan is published 
on the Suffolk PCC website.  
http://suffolk-pcc.gov.uk/the-commissioner/police-crime-plan 

Page 9

http://suffolk-pcc.gov.uk/the-commissioner/police-crime-plan


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

1

Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership Plan 2019-22

The Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership (WSCSP) is a statutory body 
with a responsibility to: 

 Make an assessment of community safety issues 
 Produce a plan which responds to those issues
 Review and report on progress against that plan
 Carry out Domestic Homicide Reviews

The partnership is made up of statutory representatives from local councils in 
West Suffolk, Mid Suffolk and Babergh, Suffolk Police, Registered Social 
Landlords, Suffolk County Council, Probation and the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. The Youth Offending Service and Havebury Housing Partnership are long-
serving co-opted members.

The WSCSP works to support community/voluntary groups to secure funding to 
deliver projects/initiatives which meet an identified community safety issue, 
which are a threat or risk or will cause the greatest harm to the community.

How does this work?

WSCSP has a duty to consider the more strategic overarching issues which are 
affecting community safety in Western Suffolk.  These are issues which may not 
affect our communities on a day to day basis, but are a threat to overall safety 
in Suffolk and undermine families and communities. These will be identified by 
making an assessment of crime and community safety in partnership with 
Suffolk County Council and Suffolk Police.

Who we will work with?

In addition to the statutory agencies of the partnership working together, we 
also have strong links with the following groups;

Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC):

The PCC is fully supportive of CSPs and their work and in turn, CSPs have a duty 
to take due regard of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Police and Crime 
Plan.  The WSCSP plan reflects those issues in the PCP which result in producing 
the greatest threat, risk and harm to our communities. 

Page 11



Appendix A

2

Strong and Safe Communities Group (SSCG):

Commissioned by the Health and Wellbeing Board the SSCG works alongside 
Community Safety Partnerships and other partnership groups; it does not 
replicate or duplicate what is already happening.  Community safety is a key 
determinant for health and wellbeing and this tactical county wide group  has 
been developed with an aim to give a light touch coordinated response, with a 
view of getting a better understanding of the whole picture in community safety, 
drawing agendas together, identifying gaps and responding.

Communication with the CSP is vital if they are to deliver locally, which is where 
they are best placed to carry out community engagement. CSP chairs are 
members of the SSCG.

The key priorities for the SSCG are as follows:

a) County Lines drugs markets established by criminals from out of the 
county. This includes supporting victims of substance misuse, tackling 
drug dealing and supply, safeguarding vulnerable adults at risk of 
‘cuckooing’, and young people being used to ‘run’ drugs and who could be 
sexually exploited.

b) Violence against Women and Girls (including men and boys).  This 
includes domestic abuse, sexual violence, modern day slavery and sexual 
exploitation.

c) Domestic Homicide reviews, including ensuring that the WSCSP 
continues to carry out effective reviews, refines processes and shares 
learning across Suffolk.

d) Hate Crime – this includes the identification and support for victims of 
hate crime by raising awareness and building confidence in reporting hate 
crime incidences.

e) Prevent - this is one of the stands of the Government’s CONTEST 
strategy to counter extremism and terrorism.  The ‘prevent’ stand aims to 
raise awareness to stop people becoming drawn into terrorism and ensure 
that they are given appropriate advice and support at an early stage.

These reflect the strategic priorities of the WSCSP.  The WSCSP have identified 
the following actions which they can undertake to support this work at a local 
level

 Convening ad hoc meetings to receive briefings on these issues and 
discuss their impact and relevance to West Suffolk. 

 Working with community groups and the voluntary sector in early 
intervention and prevention work commissioning.

Page 12



Appendix A

3

 Ensuring principals of relevant agencies and groups are in attendance.

 Establishing responsibility for and communication between designated 
principals within relevant agencies and groups.
 

 Requesting plans of action to respond as appropriate

The intention is not to duplicate any work that individual agencies may be doing 
but to understand the relevance to Community Safety for residents in Western 
Suffolk and maximise the opportunities for coordinating a response and 
intelligence between agencies in the West.

For further information please contact:

Cllr Joanna Spicer, Chair, Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership

Joanna.spicer@suffolk.gov.uk

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 –OAS/WS/19/002

Draft West Suffolk Councils’ Annual 
Report 2018-2019
Report No: OAS/WS/19/002

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 13 June 2019Report to and 

dates:
Cabinet 23 July 2019

Cabinet Member: Councillor John Griffiths
Leader of the Council 
Tel: 01284 757136
Email: john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer: Davina Howes
Assistant Director (Families and Communities)
Tel: 01284 757070
Email: davina.howes@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

Wards impacted:

This item is included in the Decisions Plan.

All Wards

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee:

(1) Considers the draft West Suffolk councils’ 
Annual Report; and

(2) Makes any amendments and recommends 
the draft West Suffolk councils’ Annual 
Report to Cabinet.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5

mailto:john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:davina.howes@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 –OAS/WS/19/002

1. Background / Context

1.1 The draft West Suffolk councils’ Annual Report (Appendix A) highlights the 
key activities and developments that have been achieved over the financial 
year 2018-2019, with regard to the priorities set out in the West Suffolk 
Strategic Framework 2018-2020.

1.2 This is the last annual report of Forest Heath District Council and St 
Edmundsbury Borough Council working together as West Suffolk councils.  It 
reports retrospectively on our achievements over the financial year 2018-
2019, and therefore refers to the ‘councils’ throughout.  In 2019-2020 we 
look forward to presenting the first annual report for West Suffolk Council. 

2. Proposals

2.1 It is good practice for local authorities to produce an annual report. It is a 
way of keeping our residents informed about our activities and how they 
contribute to our wider strategic priorities for the West Suffolk area. 

2.2 The draft report contains a number of case studies and examples from West 
Suffolk to illustrate the achievements described. These have been carefully 
drawn from a range of localities, urban and rural locations, and service 
areas, in order to demonstrate the range of activities undertaken by the 
council. In some cases, initiatives were only focused on one specific area, 
however, some examples are necessarily drawn from these localities.  There 
are one or two areas, highlighted in yellow, where we are awaiting further 
information or figures that are not yet available.

3. Alternative Options 

3.1 The alternative option is to not produce an annual report.  However, it is 
good practice for councils to report on progress against their priorities in this 
way and ensures transparency on how they spend public money. The report 
also reflects the excellent work which has been delivered across West 
Suffolk.  

4. Consultation and engagement

4.1 The draft Annual Report summarises progress in achieving the priorities set 
out in the 2018-2020 Strategic Framework which was informed by feedback 
from residents, business and stakeholders.

5. Risks

5.1 Misunderstanding of the role of the report (for example it can only give 
highlights of West Suffolk councils’ activities, not every action taken). This 
will be mitigated by developing a communications plan to clearly explain the 
role of the report. 

Page 16



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 –OAS/WS/19/002

6. Implications arising from the proposal 

6.1 Equalities - The Annual Report covers evidence to support the achievement 
of the equality objectives from the Strategic Framework 2018-2020.  

7. Appendices 

7.1 Appendix A -  Draft West Suffolk Councils’ Annual Report 2018-2019
Appendix 1 – Ways we have supported our rural communities in 2018-
2019. 

8. Background documents
 

8.1 West Suffolk Strategic Framework 2018-2020.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

(TITLE PAGE)

Appendix A

West Suffolk councils’ Annual Report 
2018-19

Version 8

Page 19



2

Contents

Foreword from Leader

Introduction

Our highlights in numbers

A vision and priorities for West Suffolk 2018-19

Priority 1: Growth in West Suffolk’s economy for the benefit of all our residents and UK plc

Priority 2: Resilient families and communities that are healthy and active

Priority 3: Increased and improved provision of appropriate housing in West Suffolk in both 
our towns and rural areas

Ways of working

Appendix 1:  Ways we have supported our rural communities in 2018-19

Page 20



3

Foreword from the Leader of West Suffolk Council

I write this having been given the enormous honour of being the first leader of West Suffolk 
Council.

For many of our local residents I hope it will feel like business as usual. We pride ourselves on 
the high quality of the day to day services our residents so value. It’s not just our waste 
crews brilliant though they are, or our environmental health team protecting the public from 
poor hygiene practices and ill health. It’s our wonderful parks and open spaces, our play 
areas, our leisure facilities, these are some of the things that make West Suffolk such a great 
place to life and work. 

Of course we do much more than that. Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury have in recent 
years saved money through innovative ways of working all the while investing to increase 
opportunities for business growth and development to meet the needs of our communities. 
We have been and are continuing to work side by side with our partners in education and 
employment to create better opportunities for young people to gain high skilled local, well 
paid jobs. 

Housing need remains a priority. As you will read in this annual report, the last of the two 
councils, we are working through a number of means including planning to ensure that there 
is the right mix of housing types and sizes –that homes are suitable to people’s changing 
needs as they get older, that there are homes to support the growth ambitions of local 
employers and meets the needs of our communities 

There are challenges ahead both for us in local government and more importantly for our 
residents, our businesses, our communities. They are at the heart of everything we do. This 
annual report outlines our approach to investing in projects partly to create income to pay for 
the services we provide, but also to create opportunities for our communities, whether they 
are opportunities for employment growth and regeneration or social benefits that will help 
improve residents’ health and wellbeing.

We also recognise that we can’t do everything alone. One of the many benefits of becoming 
West Suffolk Council is that it gives us a stronger voice to lobby for national investment in 
infrastructure for some of the major improvements our residents and businesses are asking 
us for. It also puts us in a better position to further our work at the heart of our local 
communities helping people and families address some of the key challenges they face. 
Addressing issues such as loneliness before they become ill health, tackling disengaged youth 
before it becomes anti-social behaviour and crime, finding a way for our communities to 
support each other and become more self-sufficient – these are all crucial to people’s 
enjoyment of their lives.

The work of Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury, of our staff and our former councillor 
colleagues captured in this final annual report of the two councils, give us reason to be 
confident in the face of the many unknowns. Confident that we can continue to deliver the 
needs and aspirations of our communities, confident that we can continue to progress and 
innovate, all the while delivering a good quality of life and a strong local economy. 

Welcome to West Suffolk.

Page 21



4

Introduction

This Annual Report presents the progress that West Suffolk councils made during 2018-19 in 
delivering our vision and priorities.

We have now completed our journey to becoming a single West Suffolk Council after 
successfully sharing services since 2013. This report therefore looks back on everything we 
have achieved in our final year as Forest Heath District Council and St Edmundsbury Borough 
Council. 

The vision and priorities that we worked towards during 2018-19 are set out in the West 
Suffolk Strategic Framework 2018-20 at: https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/strategicframework 

The report describes our achievements in detail across all of our localities, whether towns, 
villages or countryside. Some of the work we have done impacts on all of our residents and 
businesses, whereas other elements are focused on specific communities. In doing this, our 
aim is to respond to the specific assets, aspirations and needs of our different places and 
communities to ensure all of them are best placed to grow in prosperity and quality of life. 

The table in appendix one provides an overview of how we have particularly supported our 
more rural communities and businesses in 2018-19, as well as highlighting key achievements 
in rural areas. Further details about the examples within the appendix can be found within the 
report.

Some highlights across the whole of West Suffolk in 2018-19 are shown below:

We made history by becoming the first council of its kind to be given official backing from 
parliament in May 2018 for the creation of a new West Suffolk Council.  
We completed a nine month renovation of Haverhill Leisure Centre which opened its doors 
in February. The £1.5 million investment has transformed fitness facilities in the town. 
We helped install 17 new solar PV onto buildings in West Suffolk using the Solar for 
Business grant. This amounts to a £750,000 investment into renewable energy generating 
£80,000 a year for the Council. 
We successfully secured £591,344 (£245,782 of which for 2018-19) of Government funding 
to help reduce rough sleeping across West Suffolk and secured a joint bid of £320,000 with 
Ipswich Borough Council to prevent people privately renting from being made homeless. 
We secured £660,000 of funding to continue Haverhill LifeLink and to introduce social 
prescribing in Brandon and Mildenhall.
We were awarded £355,000 of funding for a project to further support our work in reducing 
energy consumption. 
By working proactively with developers and house builders and allocating deliverable sites 
in our local plans, we were one of the 60 per cent of all councils who met their Housing 
Delivery Targets.

Page 22

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/council/policies_strategies_and_plans/strategicframework.cfm?aud=council


5

Our highlights in numbers (to be made into infographics)

 1,629,407 activity visits to our leisure centres 
 1,142 volunteers cleared an amazing 725 bags of litter from their local 

communities
 We helped deliver 207 much needed affordable homes in West Suffolk 
 We provided housing advice to 1,607 households 
 Volunteers spent 9,371 hours working in our parks and green spaces
 4 million bins emptied
 We provided £575,384 in grants to communities, voluntary organisations and 

small businesses 

Page 23



6

A vision and priorities for West Suffolk 2018-19

Page 24



7

In our Strategic Framework, we committed to using our influence, investment, partnerships 
and regulatory powers to:

- lobby for a better connected West Suffolk, in terms of transport and digital connectivity
- promote West Suffolk as a place to do business, so as to attract investment and 

innovation that increases salary levels and encourages the right mix of jobs to grow 
our economy

- invest in and promote our local places by building on their unique qualities through 
specific local strategies, projects and environmental services 

- develop our current and future local workforce through education, training and 
opportunities for all

Why was this a priority for 2018-19?

Without ‘good growth’ in West Suffolk, our residents have little prospect of achieving the 
goals they want to achieve. A strong economy that is capable of growing, sits at the heart of 
this growth, and the councils hold a number of key levers in driving forward economic 
change.

We need to use our resources to foster good growth in West Suffolk because there are areas 
where the potential of our places and people is not being maximised and where more could 
be achieved. For example in 2018-19, we directed our energies towards projects and 
activities that helped bolster productivity, improve educational attainment and increase 
wages, which are currently lagging behind national trends. We also worked with others to 
improve infrastructure, which is so critical in rural areas such as ours. 

As we look towards the next decade and the significant social and economic change that we 
are likely to experience, West Suffolk Council needs to be leading the way in ensuring that 
our local economies are resilient and growing in an inclusive way. 

We have highlighted our achievements under the following headings:
 Creating the right conditions for growth
 Investing in growth
 Skills and education
 Creating prosperous places to live in, work in and visit

Creating the right conditions for growth
We have continued to lobby for a better connected West Suffolk. For example, after the 
councils, Suffolk County Council and other stakeholders lobbied for improvements, Highways 
England installed traffic signals on the approaches to the A11 Fiveways junction in December 
2018. The project received £400,000 funding from the Department for Transport and has 
been used to address safety concerns on the approaches to the A11.

Working with Suffolk County Council and Suffolk Chamber of Commerce, the councils have 
continued to campaign for road improvements along the A14 as part of the No More A14 
Delays campaign, to help unlock economic growth, jobs and housing. A parliamentary 
reception was held in Westminster in January to support the Road Investment Strategy and a 
funding decision for Suffolk is expected in the 2019 Autumn Statement. 

Priority 1: Growth in West Suffolk’s economy for the benefit of all our 
residents and UK plc 

Page 25



8

We successfully lobbied for upgrading of A1307 to be part of the national road network, 
increasing potential to access additional funding. 

We worked with Suffolk County Council to secure Defra Broadband funding of £1.725 million 
to help extend broadband to more businesses across rural areas in Suffolk. 

We also regularly engaged with the county council on a number of infrastructure issues 
across West Suffolk, including pot holes and other road repairs. 

Suffolk Business Park and Eastern Relief Road

We want to ensure we attract the right mix of businesses to safeguard the growth of our 
economy now and into the future. 

Following the opening of the Eastern Relief Road in September 2017, Suffolk Business Park 
continued to welcome new and expanding businesses to its site.  As well as the new 
headquarters building serving animal feed firm Forfarmers, the park is also the chosen 
location for the high quality power tools supplier Festool.  

A new spine road on the western part of the site, provides access to two large warehouses 
built initially without occupiers.  

Once finished, the site will provide approximately two million square foot of commercial space 
and opportunities for a range of companies, from start-ups to well-established large 
businesses.  37 acres of the site is also designated as an Enterprise Zone, enabling 
companies to benefit from reduced business rates.  

RAF Lakenheath

We hosted a free event for businesses to see how they can be part of multi-million contracts 
for USAF Lakenheath and growth in West Suffolk. The ‘Get Ready for Growth’ event in 
October 2018 brought together national and multi-national construction contractors with local 
businesses and showcased upcoming opportunities for how businesses could become part of 
future supply chains.

Haverhill Research Park and the Epicentre

Haverhill Research Park is located on the northern edge of Haverhill, within 17 miles of 
Cambridge.  The park consists of 30 acres of landscaped grounds with full infrastructure in 
place, ready for companies to relocate.  The site has planning permission for 450,000 square 
foot of commercial space over four plots.  It is also one of only five sites to be given 
Cambridge Compass Enterprise Zone status, which brings a number of benefits, including a 
business rates discount of up to 100 per cent for the five years of a lease. 

Following discussions with West Suffolk Council and the Cambridge and Peterborough 
Combined Authority, the developer Jaynic recently secured planning application for the 
‘EpiCentre’; a new 30,000 square foot four-storey innovation/business centre. The proposed 
location for the centre is at the gateway to the town and adjacent to the Spirit of Enterprise 
roundabout, where it will have maximum visual impact and create a prominent 'landmark' 
building at the entrance into Haverhill. 

A 1,438 square foot extension was also approved for business start-up Menta at Hollands 
Road in Haverhill.

Page 26



9

Helping businesses remain in the area

West Suffolk councils supported Pecksniffs, a premier independent British Fragrance and 
Cosmetic House based in Brandon with a move to a new premises.  Pecksniffs had found 
themselves in a position where they had to leave the building they were manufacturing in and 
needed another premises urgently.  The councils’ Economic Development team helped 
Pecksniffs find a new property, access £202,500 of grant funding from New Anglia Local 
Enterprise Partnership and supported the company through the planning process, thereby 
retaining the company and jobs in the town.  Furthermore, the company created new 
positions with the assistance of the grant.

Commercial property investments

During 2018/19, the councils invested £6.58 million in commercial properties funded through 
the Investing in Growth Fund. These properties will generate an initial gross annual revenue 
to the councils of £451,000 which, after borrowing and other costs, equates to an initial net 
annual revenue of £88,000.

The properties also contribute toward our wider strategic outcomes, including the provision of 
additional temporary accommodation in Newmarket, helping deliver the Haverhill town centre 
masterplan and acquisitions that will help progress to the Western Way Development in Bury 
St Edmunds, shaping the future of public services for the benefit of our residents and local 
businesses. 

We continue to have a low number of empty properties in our commercial property portfolio. 
Some of the empty properties were purchased by the councils for investment purposes, such 
as 17-18 Cornhill.   We are pleased to report that income received from our property portfolio 
has increased; in 2018-19 our income totalled £5,192,412 compared with £4,642,869 in 
2017-18. 

Small business grants

The West Suffolk small business grants scheme enables new businesses or those still within 
their first year (subject to criteria) to apply for a grant of up to £1,500.  In 2018/19, 16 
grants totalling £24,000 were awarded across West Suffolk. We have supported a wide 
variety of businesses including a vegan catering business, a land maintenance business and a 
marketing consultancy business. 

Helping business be greener

We continue to help businesses reduce their energy use whilst also helping them save money 
on their energy bills. During 2018-19, 17 new solar photovoltaic (PV) installations were 
installed on buildings in West Suffolk using the Solar for Business grant. This amounted to a 
£750,000 investment in renewable energy, generating £80,000 a year to support the council 
services. The businesses will benefit from electricity savings of £38,000 per year collectively 
along with the associated carbon dioxide savings. 

Page 27



10

The councils issued five Greener Business grants during the year, with four receiving support 
for LED lighting. The combined annual saving for the four recipients will be £4,400. We 
received eight new applications during the year for energy efficiency improvements including 
insulation, LED and an electric vehicle charging point.

Electric Vehicles

The councils held an event specifically aimed at local businesses as part of the West Suffolk 
Business Festival in October, showing the advances in electric vehicle innovation and charging 
infrastructure and the relevant support available to businesses. This work is part of the 
council’s commitment to cutting air pollution which includes reducing vehicle idling and 
encouraging greater use of clean energy. The councils also held an Electric Vehicle (EV) 
roadshow in the arc in August, highlighting the financial, economic and environmental 
benefits of EVs.

EU Interreg Project Award

Last year, a project funded by the European Union was identified that could further support 
our work in reducing energy consumption across West Suffolk businesses. 

Following a successful bid with three other European local authority partners, the councils 
were awarded £355,000 in December 2018 for the four year project. This will involve piloting 
smart energy solutions to develop a local smart grid. 

The project targets are to:
 Engage with up to 50 businesses 
 Use the proposed battery storage capacity from the Mildenhall Hub project and solar 

Photovoltaics (PV) generated electricity for additional storage in the local network
 Save 600,000 kWh and 250 tonnes carbon dioxide (CO2) annually 
 Achieve 15 per cent energy efficiency improvement across participating businesses
 Assess the potential to upscale across the Eastern Power Network

Local support has been gained from the Suffolk Climate Change Partnership, UK Power 
Networks, New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership and the Local Energy Hub Greater 
Cambridgeshire Combined Authority. 

Case Study- Solar installation at Unisurge Ltd
In December 2018, the councils installed its 
largest community energy solar project to 
date. An investment of £375,000 delivered an 
installation of 1,600 solar panels on the roof of 
Unisurge International’s headquarters in 
Newmarket and also an LED lighting upgrade.  
Unisurge has entered into a 20-year lease to 
purchase the renewable energy and will save 
around £20,000 per year. 
The council’s three income streams from this 
project are, the feed in tariff, selling the 
electricity to Unisurge and selling any excess 
to the grid. The Internal Rate of Return (IRR) 
is 9.96 per cent with a 20 year annual average 
return to the councils of £47,000. 

Page 28



11

If successful, the project could be rolled out across the Eastern Power Network to meet long-
term energy, growth and carbon dioxide reduction goals. An Energy Advisor has been 
recruited (funded by the project) and work has started with UK Power Networks, University of 
Cambridge and Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (OFGEM). 

Business events

Our growth team, in partnership with local businesses and organisations, has held a number 
of events in 2018-19 to help promote investment and business opportunities and deliver 
growth across West Suffolk. 

In October, the councils led and organised the West Suffolk Business Festival which 
attracted 1,500 attendees and consisted of 18 events, including various workshops and 
networking opportunities. Other events included a business breakfast with the Bank of 
England and an electric innovation event. The event closed with the Bury Free Press Business 
Awards.

The councils and Suffolk Chamber of Commerce held a Building for Business engagement 
event at Newmarket’s Rowley Mile Racecourse in November to discuss their ambitions for 
growth ahead of the creation of West Suffolk Council.  The event was a great opportunity for 
the councils to understand what businesses will need in terms of development land to enable 
them to achieve their ambitions for growth.

The West Suffolk Manufacturing Group held its first meeting in January 2019 and 
attracted 40 attendees from across the area to help drive forward innovation and skills 
development within the sector. The meetings, organised by the councils and supported by the 
New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership, will rotate between other towns in West Suffolk in 
future.

Page 29



12

Investing in Growth
Newmarket Cinema

The councils committed £210,000 of support for a business case to bring a cinema to 
Newmarket town centre. The business case is the result of essential viability studies 
commissioned in 2017, which confirmed that there is strong local demand and that operators 
are interested in running a cinema. The final business case, which is expected in autumn 
2019, will include traffic studies, a car parking study and a planning application.

17-18  Cornhill, Bury St Edmunds 

A public exhibition of designs for the former Post Office in Bury St Edmunds took place in 
June and July 2018. The designs, which were enthusiastically received, included retaining the 
historic Cornhill front, and redeveloping the rest of the site to provide a wider walkway at 
Market Thoroughfare. It will also create a new frontage onto St Andrews Street South which 
could encourage other owners to invest in improving this area, and also aims to deliver much 
needed housing. Barnes Construction, a Suffolk builder, was appointed to work on the next 
stage of the Cornhill project in December 2018.

Skills and education
Local skills and education needs

In January 2019, the councils approved £200,000 of funding, over two years, for a project to 
support young people who are not in education, employment or training (NEET) in West 
Suffolk. The funding has been matched by Suffolk County Council (Suffolk County Council 
agreed to devolve their budget to districts for place-based approaches) and Suffolk Public 
Sector Leaders Board (through pooled business rates), with £100,000 approved for year one 
and additional funding for year two dependent upon outcomes achieved in year one. The 
project has two parts. The first part is to contribute towards continuing the Haverhill Youth 
Skills project – this is delivered by Haverhill Town Council on behalf of the One Haverhill 
Partnership and provides a dedicated support for Haverhill’s NEETs, led by the Youth Skills 
Manager and apprentice. For the second part of the project, West Suffolk Council has 
commissioned West Suffolk College to deliver ‘One Step Closer’. This project will identify and 
select individuals who are NEET and have yet to be successful in securing employment. The 
College will provide them with targeted coaching and training in order to prepare them with 
skills, attitudes and behaviours that will ensure success in further education, the 
apprenticeship job market, or employment. The college will work with local voluntary and 
community organisations as appropriate in order to find the best solution for each individual 
young person.

Page 30



13

Further, in February 2019 we delivered the ‘Future Workforce in West Suffolk’ business skills 
forum in partnership with Suffolk Chamber of Commerce. The event was well received by 
businesses and included updates on the New Anglia Sector Skills Plans and T-Levels (T 
standing for technical) that Government recently introduced.

Apprenticeships 

We have 20 members of council staff working towards an apprenticeship, nine of whom are 
on apprenticeship contracts and 11 are permanent members of staff. 

The new apprenticeship standards have opened up a wider choice of specialist subjects, 
allowing staff the opportunity to study subject areas such as digital marketing, paralegal and 
public relations. 

Of our current workforce, 10 members of staff who started their careers as an apprentice 
have now moved into permanent positions while many others have taken the experience of 
working at West Suffolk and applied it to progress careers elsewhere. 

Through this work we are contributing towards one of our 2018-20 equality objectives to 
ensure we develop our current and future local workforce through education, training and 
opportunities for all. 

Graduate programme, internships and work experience

We continue to participate in the public sector Suffolk Graduate programme. One graduate is 
based in West Suffolk councils’ corporate policy team. The first cohort of graduates will 
complete the two year programme in August 2019 and a second cohort will begin the scheme 
in September 2019. 

For the fifth year running, we took part in the Suffolk Rising High programme and welcomed 
five new interns in the summer of 2018.  During the 12-week work placements, our interns 
were given responsibility for aspects of work within the service where they were based. They 
also worked on a group community challenge to tackle loneliness for people of all ages across 
west Suffolk. 

We now have six employees working at the councils who had previously been with us as 
interns but then successfully applied for permanent posts. 13 of our interns from the last 
three years went on to work in local and central government, including seven who are 
currently working for West Suffolk Council. Others gained employment in other parts of the 

Page 31



14

public sector, such as the health service and police, and the East of England Local 
Government Association.

We also hosted 12 young people on work experience from a range of local schools and 
colleges and have attended careers fairs for those over the age of 16 at Brandon, Thurston 
and Haverhill, raising awareness of the opportunities at the councils.  

For the first time, we are hosting a work placement at the Apex in the marketing team and a 
University of East Anglia master’s degree in Museum studies student is completing their 
placement at Moyse’s Hall.

Creating prosperous places to live in, work in and visit
Newmarket Business Improvement District (BID)

Love Newmarket Business Improvement District (BID) is now in its third year operating in the 
town and has been instrumental in delivering a number of events over the year, notably the 
Christmas “Making Magical Memories” events which saw increased footfall and spend in 
Newmarket.

The BID is also utilising the recently installed town Wi-Fi network which provides free Wi-Fi 
access to visitors to the town in addition to providing valuable footfall insights. 2019-20 will 
see a continuation of events and services to businesses which all aim to increase footfall and 
spend to the businesses and retailers within the BID area. The councils have continued to 
provide support to the BID board and has worked collaboratively with the BID on a variety of 
schemes.

Bury St Edmunds Business Improvement District (BID) 

Bury St Edmunds BID (OurBuryStEdmunds) works to promote local town centre businesses 
by encouraging more people to visit the town centre, spend money in the local shops and 
have an enjoyable experience in the process.  OurBuryStEdmunds does this by organising 
various events and promotions in the town centre, such as the Whitsun Fayre, the Food and 
Drink Festival and Christmas Lights Switch on.  This year, the BID, in partnership with the My 
WiSH charity, organised the tremendously successful World War One public art trail which 
saw 18 pieces of individual and unique works of art located around the town, all 
commemorating the centenary of the ending of World War One. The councils have continued 
to provide support to the BID board and has worked collaboratively with the BID on a variety 
of schemes.

Bury St Edmunds Destination Management Organisation (DMO) 

Bury St Edmunds and Beyond Destination Management Organisation (DMO) is responsible for 
driving the strategic, long-term marketing for Bury St Edmunds and the surrounding area. 
The DMO has been instrumental in understanding the visitor demographic to Bury St 
Edmunds and utilising targeted marketing to further entice new overnight visitors and 
increasing the overall value of tourism to the area.

Bury St Edmunds has also partnered with neighbouring DMO’s across Suffolk to deliver 
marketing campaigns to increase the visibility of Suffolk to potential visitors by capitalising on 
Suffolk’s unique and varied offer. 

2019-20 will see further campaigns from Bury St Edmunds and Beyond, in addition to 
working with partners in the town to prepare for the 1000th anniversary of the Abbey of St 

Page 32



15

Edmund. The councils support the DMO by ensuring that they are aware of upcoming events 
so that they can be promoted. We also collaborate on a number of schemes and initiatives. 

Screen Suffolk 

Screen Suffolk launched in 2017 as the official film office for Suffolk. The aim of Screen 
Suffolk is to promote public and private locations across the county to the film and television 
industry and encourage increased filming days in Suffolk. Filming days into the county 
surpassed initial targets and Screen Suffolk have successfully attracted a variety of television 
and film productions.

2018 saw the filming of scenes for “The Personal History of David Copperfield” in Bury St 
Edmunds. This production generated around £82,500 to the local economy and will be a 
catalyst for additional tourism visits upon release.

A number of television programmes were also filmed in West Suffolk including DIY SOS and 
Love It Or List It. The councils provided all appropriate property owned by the councils as 
locations to film. In addition, we helped by closing roads and providing parking to ensure that 
locations could be used in productions. 

Tourism 

Tourism and the visitor economy is one of our key sectors in West Suffolk, supporting around 
10,650 jobs. Figures from 2017 show that there were 11.4 million visitor trips to the West 
Suffolk area which is an increase of 7.3% when compared to 2016. This growth exceeds the 
target of 5 per cent. 

The latest figures from Destination Research find that the value of tourism to the local 
economy in West Suffolk currently stands at £538 million, an increase of 5.4 per cent 
compared with 2016. 

In partnership with our local and regional tourism organisations, we continue to promote and 
market the area to encourage more visitors to visit West Suffolk and increase their length of 
stay to further increase the value of tourism to the local economy. 

Street scene

Alongside our local communities and invaluable support from volunteers, we work hard to 
ensure that our localities remain vibrant, clean and safe. 

We continue to promote the Love Where You Live campaign which helps people set up 
group or individual litter picks and take pride in their communities. In 2018-19, 62 groups 
consisting of 1,142 volunteers managed to clear an amazing 725 bags of litter from their local 
communities throughout the year, equating to approximately 3.6 tonnes of waste. 

We have also provided 300 individual volunteers with their own litter pickers, hi-vis 
jackets and supplies of bags so that they can litter pick in their local communities on a 
regular basis.

We emptied over four million bins and recycled and composted 26931.853 tonnes of waste 
across West Suffolk. 

We also:

 dealt with 567 fly tipping incidents and carried out 1423 actions. These include carrying 
out investigations and duty of care inspections, and issuing warning letters and notices 
and;

Page 33



16

 installed 20 dog waste bag dispensers at various locations across West Suffolk which 
are being well used by dog walkers. Eight more dispensers are due to be installed later 
in the year.  

The Suffolk Waste Partnership has continued to raise awareness of reducing, reusing and 
recycling. In November 2018, the Partnership helped educate the public about plastic 
pollution and littering with a recycled Christmas art project. 23 schools, a library, a care 
home and Brownies and Guide groups from all over Suffolk took part. The participants made 
over 1,350 polar bears and penguins for a display; well in excess of the 1,000 target. The 
works were hung in the Apex over the Christmas period. 

Another area of focus for the Suffolk Waste Partnership has been to reduce food waste. We 
launched the Food Savvy website in partnership with an environmental charity called Hubbub 
and Norfolk County Council in order to secure external funding to promote food waste 
reduction. More information about Food Savvy is available: www.foodsavvy.org.uk  

Tree services

 We successfully secured £8,642.40 from Countryside Developments to carry out 
remedial work and fund replacement tree planting in the Northern Way tree belt as 
part of the Marham Park Development. 

 We also recouped £4,500 after root damage was caused to trees owned by the councils 
in the Marham Park Development. This money was spent on additional planting along 
Mildenhall Road.

 We planted 250 trees across West Suffolk as part of our commitment to ensuring our 
areas remain a green and pleasant place to live, work and visit. The replacement 
planting programme included 100 large heavy standard size trees and 150 woodland 
whip trees. 

Car parks

All of our car parks have achieved Park Mark status and achieved Disabled Parking 
Accreditation. The awards demonstrate our commitment to creating high quality parking 
facilities all.

Our cashless payments (debit and credit card) for car parking have also increased by 51 per 
cent since 2017-18. This increase demonstrates the changes in way people pay for parking, 
which we are embracing. 

We installed a new Electric Vehicle (EV) charger in School Yard East in Bury St Edmunds in 
association with Highways England and other local authorities across Norfolk and Suffolk. The 
rapid charger is capable of charging two cars at a time and can substantially recharge the 
battery of an EV in just 30 minutes. Users are able to park for free for up to two hours while 
their vehicle charges and only have to pay for the amount of electricity they purchase. Use 
over the first few months has been strong and consistent, with as much as 83.4kwh (the 
equivalent of over 330 emission free EV miles) being delivered in a single day.

Page 34

http://www.foodsavvy.org.uk/


17

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO)

In March 2019 an additional condition was added to the existing PSPO which is in place in 
Bury St Edmunds town centre.  Following complaints from residents and business about anti- 
social driving around Bury St Edmunds town centre, a consultation took place to decide if a 
new condition should be added to the existing order, which already covers anti-social 
behaviour in relation to alcohol and begging.  The results of the consultation supported the 
proposal and councillors approved the decision to add the additional clause. 

Supporting our local food businesses

The Eat Out Eat Well award rewards businesses who offer healthier food choices to customers 
by either using healthier catering practices, increasing fruit and vegetables, decreasing levels 
of fat or providing healthier options for children. 

15 business in West Suffolk achieved the award in 2018-19, with 54 in total now having 
achieved the award since its launch. 

Page 35



18

The Suffolk Take Out Eat Well award scheme was also launched at Suffolk County Council and 
promotes the provision of healthier options for customers visiting takeaway businesses.  
Three West Suffolk businesses achieved awards at the time of the launch. 

Supporting our markets

We have continued to improve market provision across our towns. Some highlights include:

 Helping improve High Street footfall in Newmarket and reviving the market by moving 
it back to its original home on Newmarket High Street. Since leaving the Market Square 
in September the market has grown from six stalls to 15 stalls and there is a waiting 
list of traders of approximately 15–20 traders. This included a successful campaign to 
not only promote the market and the move but also awareness raising over moving 
vehicles from laybys, as well as recruiting help in setting up the night before.

 Hosting the fourth beer and music festival in Haverhill in July 2018, drawing hundreds 
of visitors to the town, as well as the Haverhill Queen’s Street Christmas Market in 
December.

 Doubling the number of traders at Mildenhall market after we installed new electricity 
points in early 2019. Some of the new traders include stalls specialising in jewellery, 
photography and racing memorabilia. 

 Welcoming 140,000 people to the Bury St Edmunds Christmas Fayre. Market traders in 
Bury St Edmunds traded on Sunday as well as their regular Saturdays and Wednesdays 
in December, allowing shoppers to enjoy the festive atmosphere of the market. 

 Continuing the Clare monthly market, which has gained popularity, with a survey 
showing that many customers were visiting from areas outside of Clare. We also 
helped Clare put on a Christmas Market which consisted of more than 20 stalls.

 Holding five monthly markets in Brandon between August and December, which saw an 
increase in stalls from three to approximately 12.

Priority 2: Resilient families and communities that are healthy and 
active

Page 36



19

In our Strategic Framework we committed to using our leadership, local connections, 
commissioning role and assets to:

 foster supportive networks to improve and sustain the lives of individuals, families and 
communities

 use our community, leisure, open space and heritage assets to support wellbeing and 
education

 work with and influence partners including the voluntary sector in our shared 
endeavour of improving the health, wellbeing and safety of families and communities 

Why was this a priority for 2018-19?

Many of the difficulties experienced by West Suffolk residents could be prevented or tackled 
early if support and potential solutions were available close to home, for example, from within 
family, neighbourhood or community networks. This would then result in a different role for 
public services, namely being an option of last resort, rather than the first port of call. 

We are already developing the foundations of a more preventative approach, working across 
groups and organisations, listening to and working within and with our communities. Crucial 
to this approach is encouraging communities and individuals to explore their strengths and 
assets, and tailoring our support and responses accordingly. Traditionally we think of assets 
as being buildings or places but in this approach references to assets also means local people 
who care enough about an issue in their community that they are prepared to do something 
about it. 

Each locality’s social, economic and demographic make-up is different, as well as the 
challenges and opportunities, and understanding these will be fundamental to the success of 
our work. This is particularly true as we see long-term trends in demographics, families, the 
make-up of communities and priorities changing across Suffolk. For example, a third of new-
borns will live to 100 years of age. Increasingly, those approaching retirement age are still 
caring for their parents, which has an impact on housing choices, where people decide to live 
and work, and their lifestyles.

In practical terms this means rethinking what public services do. Prioritising the role of 
families and communities in society will mean that West Suffolk councils advocate, empower 
and enable people to spot, prevent and address emerging problems, rather than waiting until 
they become serious and manifest themselves as worklessness, anti-social behaviour or poor 
health.

We have highlighted our achievements under the following headings:
 Making connections in the community
 Community funding
 Parks and green spaces
 Arts, heritage and leisure
 Health and wellbeing
 Communicating with our residents

Page 37



20

Making connections in the community 
A key way in which West Suffolk councils have worked to support families and communities in 
becoming stronger and more resilient is through enabling them to make connections. These 
connections are the foundations on which a range of other initiatives have been built. 

Much of the work detailed in this section contributes to our 2018-20 equality objective of 
working with and influencing partners, including the voluntary sector, in our shared 
endeavour of improving the health, wellbeing and safety of families and communities.   

Haverhill Life Link

This year, we led a successful partnership bid to secure £660,000 of funding from Suffolk 
County Council, the West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group and West Suffolk business 
rates retention fund for social prescribing. The funding will be used to strengthen our social 
prescribing project in Haverhill, known as Haverhill LifeLink, as well as working with local 
partners to develop the model in Brandon and Mildenhall. The scheme helps address social 
and wellbeing needs of residents which can also impact on health and are sometimes hard for 
medical services to address. The people who have used the service have reported that they 
have gained confidence, returned into employment and volunteering, reduced loneliness or 
been helped with their physical and mental health. 

Haverhill LifeLink has helped more than 130 people by connecting them to more than 150 
existing community groups, while also identifying and establishing new groups where 
required. 

One of the users of the service said:

“I have met new people, got out the house and overall feel more positive. I feel brighter and 
more upbeat since starting Haverhill LifeLink.” 

Ixworth Patient Association

The councils supported a village transport scheme to help patients with transport problems 
access their local health centre. The councils connected the group to a Clinical Commissioning 
Group Patient Participation Officer and helped arranged a meeting with the chair of the 
Patient Association, One Suffolk and the local doctor’s surgery practice manager. Since 
connecting with the local organisations, the transport scheme has improved and funding 
secured for three years. A number of activities were also developed, such as a session called 
Get Help to Get Fit, which led to the recruitment of five new volunteers. Locality budget 

Page 38



21

funding was also provided to help towards volunteer drivers’ expenses for the patient 
journeys they make. 

The Shed, West Row

The Shed in West Row provides an area for people to come together, volunteer their time, 
build relationships and enjoy the company of others. Locality budget funding was awarded to 
the project by the councils in 2017, enabling the project to grow in 2018-19. Over the last 12 
months the group have cleared hedgerow and started to plant memory trees, as well as 
beginning work on a woodland walk. They have also carried out general repairs to buildings 
already on the site and held numerous events throughout the year. 

War Memorial, Red Lodge

Over the last 12 months district councillors for Red Lodge, together with the parish council, 
and local school and church have taken forward a proposal from the community to provide 
Red Lodge with a new war memorial.  The proposal secured funding and the memorial was 
unveiled on 11 November 2018; commemorating the centenary of the end of World War One.

Home Start

Following a successful application to the West Suffolk councils’ Community Chest, alongside 
other external funding, Home Start Mid Suffolk and West grew and expanded throughout 
West Suffolk in 2018-19.  In the last 12 months the range of services available to families 
throughout the area has expanded to include more coverage of home visiting and one to one 
support, as well as a birth and beyond programme being launched in Forest Heath and a 
Perinatal Support Group operating in Brandon, support groups have also been established in 
Honington and Stanton, including the Honington Family Group and RAF Honington Little Gems 
Group.  This programme ensures parents and families facing challenges receive vital support 
and practical help. 

Brandon Perinatal Support Group

After a need for more community based support services was identified in Brandon, the 
councils enabled the establishment of a perinatal support group in September 2018.  The 
councils helped by identifying a volunteer in West Suffolk who wished to enhance community 
based support and was willing to work with other volunteers to help set up support groups in 
the area.  The councils connected the volunteers with Home Start, who could facilitate group 
work, and also helped the group find a venue and provided locality budget funding. The group 
provides support as well as advice and information. 

Markets Matter Project

The councils’ markets and museums services worked in partnership with a community arts 
teacher to develop the Markets Matter Project which saw students from St Benedict’s Catholic 
School in Bury St Edmunds organise a Mad Hatter’s tea party at which children served free 
cake and tea to local elderly residents and involved a pop-up museum and workshops. The 
project brought generations together by involving nine schools, the Gatehouse Dementia 
Hub, a care home and two sheltered housing schemes.

Skate Park in Newmarket 

In our 2017-18 report, we said how we had been engaging with young people in Newmarket 
to design a new skate park to help bring the community together and create a space for 
young people. The project has progressed and a project group has been established, with 
young people playing a fundamental role in taking the lead in securing funding from various 

Page 39



22

stakeholders, and the councils overseeing the project and connecting key people.  We are 
now out to tender and will be overseeing the building of the new facility in 2019-20.

Western Assembly of Youth (WAY)

Following the development of the Suffolk Assembly of Youth (SAY) last year, the councils 
have been working with students from Sybil Andrews School under the Western Assembly of 
Youth (WAY). WAY is aimed at bringing young people together across the west of the county 
to create a young person’s platform; something we have not had since the Bury Youth Forum 
was disbanded in 2015/16.

The young people came together from all high schools in West Suffolk in December 2018 to 
form the foundation of WAY, after the culmination of a year’s worth of work. The students will 
explore opportunities to motivate and bring young people together on local issues in their 
communities and work alongside West Suffolk Council. 

Newmarket Interfaith Forum (NIFF)

Throughout the year, the NIFF have done some outstanding community work, including 
sharing food with a care home, supporting the injured jockey fund masquerade ball, clearing 
an elderly resident’s garden and organising a community cricket match in September for the 
entire community. We have been the link to connecting communities with NIFF, providing 
guidance and support to develop each stage of their progress. This included linking them with 
the Bury Drop In and encouraging them to take a leading role in the alternative giving 
campaign Looking For Change, as well as empowering the group to take on bigger projects. 

The group also bought a building to create a community space for the Islamic community. 
The space will have an open door approach and be open to the whole community. Pre-
planning discussions are currently taking place between West Suffolk Council’s Conservation 
Officer and Planning officers. 

Case study: Hedgehogs Café, Rougham

Hedgehogs Café opened as part of a village initiative designed to combat loneliness and 
isolation. The councils contributed to the start-up costs which helped with the opening. The 
weekly café creates a community hub for residents of Rougham, Rushbrooke and Bradfield 
St George. It runs during the day, so it is aimed particularly at those who are at home on 
Fridays (for example, those who are retired, young parents, part-time workers or people 
who work from home). We aim to encourage local residents to meet one another and 
create new supportive friendships and restore a sense of community and belonging. 

Page 40



23

Teen Chill

In last year’s annual report we said how we had helped establish Teen Chill; an initiative in 
Newmarket and Brandon developed by young people which gives them a space to relax and 
engage with youth workers.  Since launching in September 2017, the sessions have attracted 
30-50 young people weekly. A group has also formed, led by Abbeycroft Leisure and 
supported by West Suffolk councils and Suffolk County Council, to explore the direction of 
Newmarket for young people. 

Brandon Day Centre

We have been working to develop relationships with a broad range of partners within the 
Brandon community who are now operating or using the day centre in Brandon. Over 150 
people attended the official launch of the centre, which was opened by Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care and West Suffolk MP Matthew Hancock. Many different groups now 
use the facility, including a Family Carers group and a Diabetic Clinic, benefitting not only day 
centre members but a wide range of groups with various needs in the community. The centre 
also now have their first mini bus.

BMX Pump Track 

We are pleased to report that the Haverhill South People’s Forum launched the Puddlebrook 
BMX Pump Track in December 2018. The forum is part of the ‘Local Conversations’ 
programme in Haverhill South, a People’s Health Trust initiative which involves residents 
developing a shared vision for their community. The forum, supported by Community Action 
Suffolk, worked in partnership West Suffolk councils, Haverhill Community Trust and Suffolk 
County Council to deliver the BMX Pump Track. Residents have been involved in all aspects of 
the project, from the design of the track, to its upkeep and getting involved in user groups. 
The track was built by Clarke and Kent, the same builders who built the London 2012 Olympic 
Games BMX track. So far, it has attracted a large number of users of all ages and abilities and 
has received highly positive feedback. 

West Suffolk Parish Conference 

We held our second West Suffolk Town and Parish Conference for town and parish councils 
from across the area in October 2018.

The free conference gives town and parish councils the opportunity to exchange information, 
share experiences and grow their knowledge by hearing from expert speakers and taking part 
in workshops. This year’s conference had workshops on a variety of topics such as; 
community energy, neighbourhood planning, neighbourhood schemes, the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and the impact of General Data Protection Regulation, particularly in relation to 
using email.  

Helping rough sleepers sustain a life off the streets

The councils backed ‘Looking for Change’; an alternative giving campaign run by local charity 
The Bury Drop In. The campaign encourages people to donate to support the charity’s work in 
helping rough sleepers sustain a life off the streets, rather than giving directly to those on the 
street. 

Giving money directly to those on the streets may fund addictions that prevent them from 
being able to get into and keep their place in temporary accommodation. Addiction has led to 
many being evicted from their accommodation. The campaign was introduced in October 
2018 and is supported by our partners, Our Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk Police, the Bury Free 
Press and Bury St Edmunds Town Council. So far, the charity has received over £4,000 in 

Page 41



24

donations. The money donated is available as grants to people who have been rough 
sleeping, have received support for any issues of addiction and are ready to move on from 
temporary accommodation.  The first grant was used to pay for a laptop for someone who 
was sleeping rough and who was supported with finding accommodation and is now moving 
on with their life, studying with a view to gaining qualifications and starting work. 

The ‘Looking for Change’ campaign was also launched in Newmarket in March with the 
assistance of the Newmarket InterFaith Forum and The Bury Drop In. Support from the 
campaign has come from The Newmarket Journal, Love Newmarket, Suffolk Police and 
Newmarket Town Council. The Newmarket campaign is slightly different in that it is also set 
up to help people who are homeless but not rough sleeping, and people who are vulnerable in 
the town. 

Stillbirth and neonatal death charity (Sands) support group

Sands support group provides emotional support for grieving families who have experienced 
the devastation of losing a baby, either during pregnancy, at birth or soon after. The councils 
helped set up the first Sands support groups in Suffolk by providing locality budget funding. 
The money was used to cover the costs for hiring a meeting room, as well as purchasing a 
computer and printer for vital administrative support.

The support meetings are so important for bereaved families and friends to meet with others 
who have been through a similar experience. The group is made up of bereaved parents who 
are very appreciative of the councils’ support during the startup period.

The group now hold monthly support meetings in Bury St Edmunds. They have also been 
helping with raising money for a bereavement suite in the West Suffolk Hospital.

Page 42



25

Togetherness Fayre

The West Suffolk councils interns helped raise awareness of the problem of loneliness by 
creating the Togetherness Fayre in August 2018; a free event that brought together 30 local 
businesses and charities to showcase the important work they are doing across Suffolk to 
reduce loneliness. The event was a great opportunity for organisations to recruit new 
members, network and spread awareness of the services on offer. 

Case study: Fibromyalgia Group

Our Families and Communities approach is all about helping community groups make links 
with other organisations to help them reach their goals and become more resilient in the 
process.  Last year, a Facebook fibromyalgia support group with over 150 members wanted to 
meet to socialise and find a suitable premises so that they could host events with speakers. 
The Facebook group was a great first step in helping individuals with the condition feel less 
isolated and for them to gain information and advice in a positive environment. 

The group’s admin had organised a number of self-funded events, which were successful, but 
costly due to outgoings for speakers, the room booking and refreshments. 

After the group reached out to the councils to seek advice about funding opportunities, we 
helped them find suitable premises and provided contact for other groups in the voluntary and 
community sector who offered free space to community groups.

They also advised them to contact the Gatehouse Charity in Bury St Edmunds who offered a 
room for the group to meet monthly. The group received financial support from local 
councillors in the form of locality budget funding, which enabled them to fund speakers and 
day trips. 

Page 43



26

Community funding 
Locality budgets

Our locality-based approach is supported by our Locality Budget scheme, where councillors 
each have an annual budget of £2,500 that they can allocate to community-led activities in 
their ward. Locality Budgets help groups of residents take ownership of issues that they care 
about and help councillors ensure that funding gets to the heart of their communities.

One of the many projects which was allocated locality budget funding was the Multi Use 
Games Area in Risby. It offers somewhere for local residents to play tennis, netball, 
basketball and hockey, while in winter months it can also be used for football and cricket. 

In 2018-19 West Suffolk councillors contributed £82,626 towards initiatives and projects in 
their wards. 
A full list of projects funded by councillors in 2018-19, together with information about how 
the scheme works can be found on our website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/localitybudgets 

Community Chest funding 

The West Suffolk Community Chest provides voluntary and community sector groups the 
opportunity to apply for funding for projects and services which will bring benefits to local 
people and help the councils achieve their priority of supporting families and strengthening 
communities. 

In total, £468,758 has been awarded to voluntary groups and organisations across West Suffolk 
in 2018-19 to support their valuable work. 

A full list of projects that have received Community Chest funding in 2018-19, together with 
information about how the scheme works can be found on our website: 
www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/communitychest 

Page 44

http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/localitybudgets
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/community/community-grants.cfm


27

Parks and green spaces
We are proud of our parks and open spaces which have again been recognised at a national 
and local level.  This would not be possible without the dedication of volunteers who spent 
some 9,371 hours working in our parks and green spaces during 2018-19.   

In 2018-19, four parks across West Suffolk (the Abbey Gardens, East Town Park, Nowton 
Park and West Stow Country Park) were awarded Green Flag status for the seventh year in a 
row and Aspal Close Nature Reserve in Mildenhall was awarded a Green Flag for the first 
time. The Green Flag scheme is run by Keep Britain Tidy and is awarded to parks that are 
safe, clean and well looked after. 

The plant displays in the Abbey Gardens also contributed to Bury St Edmunds’ success in this 
year’s Britain in Bloom competition, as well as the regional Anglia in Bloom competition. Bury 
St Edmunds was awarded a gold in the national competition and gold at the regional 
competition. Brandon in Bloom was also awarded a silver-gilt in the Town Category and 'Best 
New Entry'.

In June 2018 the ownership and management of Brandon Country Park was transferred 
from Suffolk County Council to Forest Heath District Council. Since then, management of the 
café has been leased to Verse Facilities management and a new senior Ranger has been 
appointed. The main car park has also been resurfaced and numerous other improvements 
have been initiated.

Work is progressing to bring the former Eastgate nursery, part of the Abbey Gardens, back 
into a meaningful use. Two new tennis courts will be installed into the area. Once installed 
the old tennis courts near to the former abbey church will be removed. 

Through developer contributions from section 106 funding for developments in the 
Newmarket area we were able to support with the commissioning and installation of an 
ornamental gateway on the Exeter Road end of the Yellow Brick Road in Newmarket which 
was created by metal sculptor Nigel Kaines. Since its installation a number of environmental 
improvements have progressed along the route of the Yellow Brick Road and we will soon be 
installing CCTV to deter antisocial behaviour along a certain section of the route.   

Page 45



28

Tayfen Meadow (Bury St Edmunds), York Road (Haverhill) and Strasbourg Square (Haverhill) 
play areas were refurbished in 2018, with local communities choosing some of the equipment 
that they wanted to see in their play areas, increasing the sense of community ownership. 

Arts, heritage and leisure 
Events, museums and tourism

In 2018-19, there were 148,658 visits to West Stow Country Park (including 20,986 
admissions to West Stow Anglo Saxon Village) and 21,076 admissions to Moyse’s Hall.

At West Stow Country Park we ran a number of popular events including Ring Quest, a Lord 
of the Rings themed family challenge and the annual Dragon Fest.  

Moyse’s Hall in Bury St Edmunds held a number of high profile exhibitions including, the 
Marilyn Monroe exhibition, Sci-Fi exhibition, Sybil Andrews exhibition and the Space 
exhibition. The success of these exhibitions led to a nine per cent increase in visitors to 
Moyse’s Hall in 2018-19 and a 25 per cent increase in income compared with 2017-18. 

We also hosted 60 events as part of the 2018 Bury Festival.

Market Place – Phase two

Market Place is an audience development programme for the engagement and growth of arts 
and culture in seven market towns, including Brandon, Mildenhall and Newmarket. It focuses 
on engaging people who are not currently engaged in the arts, or likely to have a background 
in arts engagement, and giving them a voice and access to the arts and culture. 

This year has seen the implementation of phase two of the programme, made possible 
through the extension of Arts Council England funding. The next phase (2018-2021) will see 
us work with the people and the things that uniquely characterise each place. The work 
recognises the impact creative arts engagement can have on people in their daily lives, 
increasing confidence and self-esteem and support wellbeing.

Since 2016/17, there have been just over 39,000 attendances at Market Place’s 50 events 
and 129 activities.

Page 46



29

The Apex

The Apex in Bury St Edmunds hosted 258 shows in 2018-19 and the box office took 
£2,062,824, exceeding the target set for the financial year and increasing income by 1.6% 
compared with 2017-18. Ticket sales also increased by 3,000 compared with 2017-18, with 
108,004 tickets sold in 2018-19. The last financial quarter (January – March 2019) was the 
best on record and up 14% on the same quarter in 2017-18. 

The new Apex membership scheme was launched in the summer of 2018.  The target for the 
first year was 250 members but 400 members joined in nine months, generating an 
additional £14,000 of income for the venue per year. 

In February half term in 2019, the Apex hosted the hugely successful Museum of The Moon 
installation, attracting over 15,000 visitors to The Apex.

Historic environment 
Abbey of St Edmund Heritage Partnership 

The Abbey of St Edmund Heritage Partnership aims to deepen public understanding of the life 
and times of St Edmund and the medieval abbey and to encourage people to experience to 
historical and archeological significance of the Abbey of St Edmund. In 2018-19, the 
partnership completed two major pieces of academic research into the Abbey of St Edmunds. 
The first was a Heritage Assessment, which brought together all the available history and 
archeological information about the Abbey. The second was a Conservation Plan, which 
assessed the significance of the Abbey precinct and outlines a conservation framework for its 
future care and enhancement. Both studies were commissioned by the Abbey of St Edmund 
Heritage Partnership with grant support from Historic England and St Edmundsbury Borough 
Council. The results of both studies were presented in January 2019 at a one day conference 
at St Edmundsbury Cathedral.  Around 175 people attended the conference, which was 
supported by the University of East Anglia. 

In March 2019, plans for a series of community engagement events and workshops to help 
communicate the work of the partnership were backed by councillor funding. Five Town 
councillors and eight St Edmundsbury Borough councillors agreed to support a total of £6,254 
in locality budget allocations for a series of seven projects for Heritage Conservation and 
Community Engagement in the Abbey of St Edmund.  The funding will also be used to 
produce a new visitor leaflet and wall map about the Abbey and help develop website 
content, social media and IT. 

Page 47



30

Suffolk Armed Forces Day

In June 2018 we hosted Suffolk Armed Forces Day in the Abbey Gardens. The event was 
formally opened by the Mayor of St Edmundsbury and the Suffolk Armed Forces.

The event was a celebratory family fun day and a chance to show our support for the men 
and women who make up the Armed Forces community: from currently serving troops to 
service families, veterans and cadets. 

It was sponsored by Bury St Edmunds Town Council and included living history re-enactments 
from throughout the ages, including the Norwich & Norfolk Medieval Association, the 95th 
Rifles Living History Society and the Suffolk Regiment Living History Society, storytelling, 
military vehicles, arts and crafts and live music. Further children’s activities throughout the 
day included a climbing wall, fun fair rides and lots of more relaxed activities such as face 
painting and arts and crafts activities. Live music was provided by several artists including the 
Haverhill Silver Band and Bury St Edmunds Concert Band. Later in the evening, an Armed 
Forces Day concert by the Suffolk Philharmonic Orchestra was held at the Apex.

Health and wellbeing
Leisure Centres

Our leisure centres had 1,629,407 activity visits in 2018-19. Our leisure centres exist to 
inspire healthier, more active communities through excellent facilities and services, great 
experiences and strong partnerships.  We do this as an accredited social enterprise meaning 
that any surplus is used to support positive social change in our communities. 

Newmarket Leisure Centre won a national competition and was awarded Local Authority 
Leisure Trust Gym of the Year at the National Fitness Awards 2018.

A £1.5million investment for Haverhill Leisure Centre was completed January 2019, with 
the centre opening its doors shortly after. The improvements to the centre include an 
extended gym, bigger studio space and new changing rooms, as well as a new self-centre 
suite, a new café, a children’s party area incorporated into a new soft play area, an X-Height 
climbing experience and a parkour/free running area. We also invested £60,000 into Samuel 
Ward Academy School’s sports barn floor to make improvements to accommodate displaced 
users of the leisure centre.  

Page 48



31

Abbeycroft Leisure received investment from the Clinical Commissioning Group to develop 
and deliver Stand Tall in West Suffolk. The Stand Tall programme enables 11 to 19 year olds 
to identify their own wellbeing needs and goals through education and practical support, 
alongside physical activity, helping to keep them physically and mentally healthy. The 
delivery of the programme will begin in September 2019 and operate in schools across West 
Suffolk.  

Our Keep Active programme has continued to operate beyond its funding period becoming 
an embedded programme within our leisure sites. Keep Active focusses on the engagement 
and activity provision for over 55’s and 14-25 year olds in Newmarket, Mildenhall and 
Brandon with the aim of increasing and continuing participation. Active Mums, our 
programme for expectant and new mothers in West Suffolk has continued to go from strength 
to strength and is being extended across Suffolk in partnership with midwifery teams.

Events

We delivered five running and triathlon festivals in partnership with HaverTri, attracting 1,668 
participants, 80 volunteers and raising £4,800 for five local charities.

200 women took part in the Women on Wheels (WoW) charity cycle ride in Bury St Edmunds 
organised by Abbeycroft Leisure Centre and Suffolk County Council in July. The initiative aims 

Page 49



32

to encourage women and girls to experience the benefits of a cycling and to challenge 
themselves. Over the last four years the WoW rides in Bury St Edmunds have raised £24,616 
for the hospice. 

Exercise Referral Scheme

Exercise referral schemes enable GPs and health professionals to refer patients with long 
term health conditions to a fitness programme based within the community, to increase their 
physical activity levels as part of a healthy lifestyle.  Abbeycroft Leisure Centre in Bury St 
Edmunds became the first Exercise Referral Scheme in Suffolk to be awarded a new county-
wide quality standard developed by Suffolk County Council Public Health and county wide 
partners. The standard is important in ensuring that GP’s, physiotherapists and other medical 
practitioners can feel confident that they are referring patients into a scheme that is safe and 
effective. The scheme also operates in Haverhill, Newmarket, Mildenhall and Brandon. There 
were 300 referrals across our centres in 2018-19. Those who participated in the scheme 
experienced improvements to their BMI levels, their resting heart rates and their wellbeing. 

Dementia Action Alliance (DAA)

We now have Dementia Action Alliances established in Bury St Edmunds and Newmarket. 
Over 50 organisations are signed up to Newmarket DAA and we are about the launch a 
scheme in Haverhill.  

Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership (WSCSP)

Over the past year we have continued to be active partner in the Western Suffolk Community 
Safety Partnership (WSCSP).  The CSP is a statutory body made up of the following partner 
organisations; police, local authorities, probation, clinical commissioning group and fire and 
rescue services.  Western Suffolk CSP covers West Suffolk Council, Babergh and Mid Suffolk 
council areas. Representatives from the Youth Justice Service and Registered Social Landlords 
have been co-opted to the partnership.

Based on the outcomes of partnership discussions and a strategic assessment of crime, the 
following priorities were identified as the focus for the WSCSP:

a) County Lines drugs markets established by criminals from out of the county. This 
includes supporting victims of substance misuse, tackling drug dealing and supply, 
safeguarding vulnerable adults at risk of ‘cuckooing’, and young people being used to 
‘run’ drugs and who could be sexually exploited.

Page 50



33

b) Violence against women and girls (including men and boys), which includes 
domestic abuse, sexual violence, modern day slavery and sexual exploitation.

c) Domestic Homicide Reviews, including ensuring that the WSCSP continues to carry 
out effective reviews, refines processes and shares learning across Suffolk.

d) Hate Crime, including the identification and support for victims of hate crime by 
raising awareness and building confidence in reporting hate crime incidences.

e) Prevent - this is one of the stands of the Government’s CONTEST strategy to counter 
extremism and terrorism.  The ‘prevent’ stand aims to raise awareness to stop people 
becoming drawn into terrorism and ensure that they are given appropriate advice and 
support at an early stage.

County Lines 

As a result of concerns raised about County Lines in Suffolk, a multi-agency Suffolk wide 
Strategic Action Plan was developed and agreed.  This has be supported by the local western 
Suffolk tactical action plan.  This was developed through a series of meetings and workshops 
with engaged stakeholders from all sectors. 

Raising awareness sessions have started for practitioners including; what is a county line; 
how is it different from local drug activity; what to look for; how to report issues and share 
intelligence and how to support those who may become involved. Community awareness 
raising is in the planning stage for identified key areas, working with local community groups 
and connectors. This will focus on awareness raising, what to look for and how to report 
concerns.

It has been a priority to ensure that schools and colleges receive the appropriate information 
delivered by a variety of means to pupils, staff, governors and parents.  A series of age 
appropriate sessions have been delivered by commissioned organisations and partners to 
upper schools.  Primary schools are being supported through their feeder upper schools, 
however further support will be available for any school that has a particular identified issued. 

Bespoke packages are being designed for use in Pupil Referral Units in conjunction with head 
teachers and internal officers from the partnership.  Home schooled children are also 
receiving information through Suffolk County Council Home School Co-ordinators.  Work to 
encompass those children who are excluded from school is being delivered through the 
Suffolk Strategic action plan.  

Crucial Crew

Around 1,100 St Edmundsbury school children visited the annual Crucial Crew personal safety 
event led by the councils in July 2018. The overall focus of the event is on personal safety and 
personal well-being.

Year six children aged between 10 and 11 years, from 36 schools, came together at West 
Suffolk College in Bury St Edmunds to experience various scenarios, staffed by experts from 
partner agencies, to show children how to deal with potentially dangerous situations and how 
to protect both themselves and others. The Fire Service simulated what it is like being in a 
burning house, The Dogs Trust talked about being Dog Safe and Suffolk Police spoke about 
keeping safe online and the dangers of becoming involved in county lines. Other lessons 
covered first aid, keeping safe on the road and in water.  Our commercial environmental 
health team also helped raise awareness of good food hygiene and the children were taught 
about good handwashing and kitchen hygiene practices. 

Page 51



34

Communicating with our residents
Our Communications team supported our major projects in 2018-19, including the work to 
create the new West Suffolk Council. This has included evolving the West Suffolk website and 
social media as part of the drive to increase online access. In addition, we have supported 
initiatives such as the Western way development, Mildenhall Hub, Social Prescribing projects 
and lobbying for funding such as the Future Highways Fund.

The councils were used as a national case study for better engagement with residents 
through the use of social media in 2018-19. This includes Customer Service answering 
questions as well as the Communications Team engaging with more than 60 Facebook pages 
and recently utilising the new ability to comment as a page in a group. This is welcomed by 
many people posting in these pages and has been used to help answer complex questions, as 
well as encouraging people to take part in campaigns. Some of these groups include 
membership levels of more than 18,000 people and a total of nearly 100,000.

The use of new dynamic and vibrant material such as images, films and gifs has helped not 
only improve engagement with the councils but also increased the audience for our social 
media channels by 45% over the last year. The use of films has seen thousands of views; 
from councillors explaining new initiatives to partnering with the media to live stream 
questions on Civic Leadership. This saw one of the largest engagements in a consultation on a 
council issue. The councils have also been using social media advertising as a cost effective 
way for recruitment and engagement in various campaigns.

We led on the county wide commemoration of Armed Forces Day with a range of events. This 
included a mixture of marketing and a range of social media channels managed by the 
councils to advertise, promote and celebrate the various events held in West Suffolk for 
Armed Forces Day. 

We have also worked closely and supported the local media and partnerships on initiatives 
such as the ‘Looking For Change’ campaign. This was part of wider work to help explain rough 
sleeping, what is being done by the councils in this area and to encourage a change in 
behaviour from people who naturally want to help.

Customer Services 

Throughout 2018-19, our Customer Services team have worked across five locations, 
delivering face to face and telephone support to customers across eight different service 
areas. The team have continued to:

 answer in excess of 165,000 phone calls
 provide support to around 43,000 customers face to face
 support around 76,000 households with renewing their garden waste subscription
 issue around 2,200 parking permits

The front of house team have also helped customers access online services, providing support 
and advice for those wishing to use the public access computers at West Suffolk House in 
Bury St Edmunds, the College Heath Road site in Mildenhall and at our offices in The Guineas, 
Newmarket.

We take great pride in the service we offer to those contacting the councils and are delighted 
to have received a 99 per cent satisfaction rating from customers surveyed in 2018-19.

Page 52



35

Why was this a priority in 2018-19? 

We know that good housing can play an important role in improving health and wellbeing of 
people in our area, and it is vital to realising our ambitions for economic growth. Without 
suitable and affordable housing, our residents will not be able to achieve their ambitions. The 
local conditions in West Suffolk makes housing particularly difficult to afford, given relatively 
high house prices and low wages. The councils therefore has an important role to play in 
seeking to address this situation, and also ensure housing is suitable for the increasingly 
ageing population. At the same time, the councils continue to work to improve the quality of 
housing, so as to ensure it supports the health and wellbeing of residents, families and 
communities. The councils also responded to homelessness in West Suffolk by investing 
resources in preventing homelessness, supporting the most vulnerable in our society and 
securing suitable accommodation for those in crisis. 

We have highlighted our achievements under the following headings:
 Planning for housing needs that is supported by infrastructure, facilities and community 

networks 
 Improving the quality of existing housing
 Reducing homelessness and supporting vulnerable households

Planning for housing needs that is supported by 
infrastructure, facilities and community networks 
Local Plans

The adopted and emerging Local Plans covering St Edmundsbury area and Forest Heath area 
(and all related policy documents, including guidance and Supplementary Planning 
Documents) will continue to apply to those parts of the West Suffolk Council area until a new 
Local Plan for West Suffolk is adopted. This is currently scheduled for mid-2023. 

The Forest Heath Single Issue Review (SIR) and Site Allocations Local Plan (SALP) are 
nearing completion of their examination.  The post-modification hearings sessions concluded 
in June 2018 and the councils has been waiting for inspectors to issue the reports. This is the 
final stage of the process before adoption. 

In November 2018, Pegasus Group, an independent consultancy firm acting on behalf of the 
Newmarket Horseman’s Group, issued a legal opinion to the inspectors who carried out an 
examination into the SIR and SALP.  The legal opinion references a series of decisions in the 
European Court relating to the preparation of the Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
which were decided after the close of the hearing sessions.  

In light of the recent European judgements, the councils are required to review and update 
the HRA.  This update may result in modifications to the SIR and SALP.  The updated HRA 
was submitted to inspectors in March 2019. 

Priority 3: Increased and improved provision of appropriate housing 
in west Suffolk in both our towns and rural areas

Page 53



36

The councils also adopted a Local Development Scheme in November 2018.  This document 
committed West Suffolk to a timetable for the preparation, consultation and adoption of the 
West Suffolk Local Plan.   

Neighbourhood Plans

We are committed to encouraging local people to engage in the planning and development of 
their own areas. Neighbourhood planning is led and owned by the local community 
themselves, however the councils provide guidance and technical assistance at each stage of 
the process.  This includes providing advice on which issues are considered to be relevant 
planning matters, mapping neighbourhood boundaries and helping communities communicate 
with local partners and/or organisations where required.

The Hargrave Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2031 is a statutory development plan document for 
the councils. The plan was formally created in July 2018 and is a material consideration within 
the parish of Hargrave for planning application purposes to be read alongside the council’s 
Local Plan. 

There are now six neighbourhood plans being prepared by town and parish councils in:

 Barningham 
 Exning
 Freckenham
 Great Barton
 Ixworth and Ixworth Thorpe
 Newmarket 

Housing Delivery

We are part of 60 per cent of councils who have met their Housing Delivery Target for last 
three years. We have sought specialist advice to understand the continued role that the 
councils can play in supporting deliveries, which included the allocation of sites and having an 
up to date local plan. With this in mind, the councils approved a timetable in December 2018 
and a commitment to prepare a West Suffolk Local Plan to be submitted for examination in 
2021 and adopted in 2023.   

Housing Strategy

In this year West Suffolk councils approved a new Housing Strategy for the period from 2018-
2023.  We know that good housing plays an important role in the health and wellbeing of 
people in our area and that residents need access to suitable housing that is affordable and 
helps them achieve their future goals for a settled home, family life, career development and 
fulfilling retirement.  Providing the right housing is also vital to realising our ambitions for 
inclusive economic growth and it supports communities, health and education.

We are working to ensure that there is a sufficient supply of the right types of housing that 
our residents can afford.  By adopting this strategy we are focusing on priorities around 
planning for housing to meet the needs of current and future generations throughout their 
lifetimes, improving the quality of housing and the local environment and enabling people to 
access suitable and sustainable housing.

Page 54



37

Affordable housing

Working with private developers and registered providers, we have delivered 207 new 
affordable homes in 2018-19, compared with 236 in 2017-18 and 142 in 2016-17. We have 
been ahead of our target of 185 per year since 2017.

The Newbury Community Association (NCA), Suffolk County Council and St Edmundsbury 
Borough Council selected one of the UK’s top ten home builders, Keepmoat Homes to seek 
detailed planning permission and undertake work at the former Howard Community Primary 
School and the Newbury Community Centre sites in Bury St Edmunds to help build a new 
community centre and 79 new homes. The scheme will include 30 per cent affordable housing 
and has received a grant of £670,000 from the Government under its Land Release Fund.

Barley Homes

The councils took the decision during 2018-19 to become the sole owner of Barley Homes, 
buying Suffolk County Council’s shares in the company. This decision was taken in order to 
help aid delivery, reduce red tape and simplify governance, meaning the company could 
move forward in developing a range of much need open-market and affordable homes. The 
company’s first planning application for the development of 37 homes on the former Westfield 
Middle school site in Haverhill was approved in February 2019. A development brief for the 
second site, the former Castle Hill middle school site, also in Haverhill, was approved in 
March, with a planning application being submitted soon afterwards. 

Housing conference

The councils hosted a regional housing conference at The Apex in October 2018, bringing 
together some of the biggest national names in the housing industry to discuss issues around 
affordability, quality of housing and the need for homes to be adaptable to suit people’s 
changing needs. Over 100 people attended the event which included talks from high profile 
speakers such as the House of Lords spokesman on social housing and the chairman of 
Homes England. 

Improving the quality of existing housing

Page 55



38

We know that good quality housing can improve health and wellbeing. In 2018-19, we have 
worked with private landlords, tenants, and the voluntary and community sector to ensure 
privately rented accommodation is up to standard and implemented policy changes to allow 
the councils to impose financial penalties on rogue landlords whose properties are in poor 
condition. 

Much of the work in this section supports our 2018-20 equality objective of enabling people to 
access suitable and sustainable housing. 

Bringing empty homes back into use

We worked with owners of long term empty homes in West Suffolk and brought 67 homes 
back into use in 2018-19, resulting in a 33.5 per cent reduction in the number of properties 
deemed high priority for bringing back into use across West Suffolk. 

Improving standards in the private rented sector

Following the introduction of the new Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Mandatory 
Licensing Requirements on the 1st October 2018, which saw the scope of licensing extended, 
the councils’ Public Health and Housing team has successfully licenced over 40 additional 
HMO properties, with 83 in total across West Suffolk.  Any established breaches of legislation 
relating to HMO licensing or management is being enforced in line with our Civil Sanctions 
Policy, with Civil Penalty Notices to the sum of £14,000 issued.

During 2018-19, our Housing Standards team helped 1,367 households by improving their 
homes. This includes administering 24 grants to help those on low incomes insulate their park 
homes, 127 housing enforcement interventions to improve living conditions and 32 
inspections of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO). We also resolved 582 noise complaints.  

Case study: Bringing a long term empty property back into use 

The Empty Homes Grant was successfully used to bring a long term empty property in 
Exning back into use. The property, in a prominent community location, suffered 
damage when a vehicle drove through the ground floor shop front, which had 
residential accommodation above. West Suffolk councils’ Public Health and Housing 
officers worked with the owner over a period of time to explore all the options. The 
property was subsequently sold, the new owner undertook renovations using the grant, 
and new tenants have now moved in.  

Page 56



39

Our Public Health and Housing officers worked alongside Suffolk Fire and Rescue Service to 
carry out Impact Days in Brandon, Bury St Edmunds, Haverhill, Ixworth, Lakenheath, 
Mildenhall and Newmarket. The officers carried out checks on safety standards in flats above 
commercial properties. 

We provided advice to landlords at the free-to-attend West Suffolk Landlords Forum events.  
At one event there was advice for landlords on laws around Houses in Multiple Occupation 
and the need for Energy Performance Certificates. Many residents rent their homes so it is 
crucial that we work with landlords to ensure they are aware of the support that is available 
to them and their tenants, as well as their legal responsibilities to tenants.

Case study: Park Homes Insulation Project

The councils provided £140,000 of funding to help insulate low-income homes 
and those households living in fuel poverty. 
Park home properties in Ashdale Park, Brandon were identified for the project. 
Vulnerable elderly persons reside in the homes that were heated by expensive 
bottled gas and would therefore significantly benefit from energy efficiency 
works.

In total, 24 homes were clad in external wall insulation. Most also had 
additional measures fitted, such as underfloor and loft insulation. 

Using a means tested method, the majority of residents didn’t have to pay 
anything towards the works, on average worth around £6,000 per home. The 
improvements will save many residents in the region of £500 per year in 
energy bills. In total it is estimated the works will save 43 tonnes of CO2 

entering the atmosphere every year.

A long term resident with numerous health issues said, “We are thrilled with 
the works. There is no way we could have done this without the funding. Our 
home looks great, feels warmer and reduces the impact of outside noise.”

Page 57



40

Reducing homelessness and supporting vulnerable 
households
Homelessness Reduction Strategy 

The Homelessness Reduction Act came into force in April 2018, and we have responded to the 
fundamental changes to legislation and additional duties introduced by the Act.  Through the 
Act there is now more emphasis on the prevention of homelessness, working with partners 
and helping individuals to access housing.  In West Suffolk we know that housing is 
particularly difficult to afford, given relatively high house prices, high rents and low wages 
and we are working to address that situation through this strategy and the Housing Strategy 
(outlined above).  As well as focusing on new housing we have also responded to rising 
homelessness in West Suffolk by investing resources in prevention and securing suitable 
accommodation and support for those people in crisis.    

The development of our Homelessness Reduction Strategy for the period 2018-2023 is an 
important part of our approach to preventing and reducing homelessness across West 
Suffolk.  We are focusing on five priority areas: homelessness prevention, tackling rough 
sleeping, supporting vulnerable households, increasing accommodation options and 
supporting the implementation of welfare reforms. 

Both of these strategies are supported by robust plans that will help us to focus on delivering 
our priorities and we look forward to reporting on progress in due course.  

Preventing homelessness  

We have continued to ensure those affected by homelessness receive timely advice and 
assistance to maintain or secure suitable accommodation and combat homelessness using a 
proactive and preventative approach. 

In 2018-19 we prevented 405 households from becoming homeless and provided housing 
advice to 1617 households. We also relieved (took action to help resolve homelessness) 183 
cases and accepted a main homelessness duty to 54 households (due to changes in 
homelessness legislation and the reporting requirements, we are unable to compare the data 
with previous years). 

We recruited six new members of staff as part of our Rough Sleeper Outreach Service, 
including a Rough Sleeper Coordinator, a Specialist Substance Misuse Outreach Worker, two 
Outreach and Resettlement workers and a Specialist Mental Health Outreach Worker.  Since 
the service commenced in September 2018, the number of people sleeping rough across 
West Suffolk has reduced from 37 to 15 in March 2019. This represents the invaluable work 
the team are doing to help individuals off the streets. 

The service has supported people by either helping them into emergency accommodation, 
temporary accommodation, or into more long term accommodation. They have intervened on 
many occasions to prevent individuals losing their place in accommodation and reverting back 
to rough sleeping. They have also helped relieve homelessness through a non-housing 
intervention or by reconnecting people to their local area. In total, the team have assisted 
twenty individuals move into long term accommodation since September 2018. 

Temporary accommodation

We purchased a property in Newmarket which will be used to provide much needed 
temporary accommodation to help reduce the need to use bed and breakfast. The property 
consists of ten bedsits and two commercial business units, which means not only can the 

Page 58



41

councils provide stability for tenants, but also receive a rental income from the investment to 
help support services.   

We have also added further to our temporary accommodation stock this year by refurbishing 
a former caretaker’s house in Mildenhall for use by up to four single people and have a long 
term lease on a flat in Bury St Edmunds for use as emergency housing for rough sleepers. 

We spent £261,574 on bed and breakfast accommodation in 2018-19, however £226,018 of 
this was reimbursed to the councils through Housing Benefit claims, making the net total 
spend £35,556. This is compared with £40,088 in 2017-18.  

Successful funding bids

We were awarded a total of £591,344 (£245,782 of which for 2018-19) of Government 
funding following a successful bid to help reduce rough sleeping across West Suffolk. The 
councils and our partners met with representatives from the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government to outline initiatives to help support people who are 
rough sleeping. The funding has been used to provide multi-agency outreach workers with 
expertise in drug and alcohol as well as mental health issues as well as providing additional 
accommodation and on-site support.

We also successfully secured £320,000 in a joint bid with Ipswich Borough Council which will 
enable us to do more work in preventing tenants in the private sector from being made 
homeless. The bid includes the recruitment of two new tenancy sustainment officers (one 
working across West Suffolk and the other across Ipswich) and an assistant recovery officer 
who will work with struggling tenants and their landlords in both council areas. The money 
will also be used for training and to sustain private sector tenancies across West Suffolk and 
Ipswich. 

Supporting vulnerable households

We have worked in partnership with Suffolk County Council, Babergh & Mid Suffolk district 
councils, Bury St Edmunds Women’s Aid and Anglia Care Trust to deliver accommodation and 
support to victims of domestic abuse who are either homeless or threatened with 
homelessness and also have mental health or substance misuse issues. 

A specialist substance misuse worker was recruited by Anglia Care Trust in October 2018 to 
connect victims with mainstream services. The worker is hosted by our housing options team 
and is funded until March 2020. Through this role we have strengthened our relationship with 
the refuge in Bury St Edmunds and can offer bespoke ongoing support to people experiencing 
a housing crisis.

We have also supported disabled households by spending £1,033,606 on Disabled Facilities 
Grants in 2018-19 which has helped provide a variety of adaptations, aids and equipment so 
that disabled people can continue living independently in their homes. 

Page 59



42

Why was this a priority in 2018-19? 

In carrying out our work, West Suffolk councillors and staff are committed to a number of 
‘ways of working’. These ways of working govern the way in which we carry out our business 
and choose those opportunities that are important to pursue. They are based on the values 
that drive our approach, coupled with the circumstances facing local government in the 21st 
century. 

Changes in the way the Government funds local authorities have meant that we have needed 
a new approach to our finances and become more self-sufficient by generating our own 
income and recognising investment and commercial opportunities.  However, we need to take 
this further by developing our organisation, our estate and our people. 

This section covers our activities under the headings:

 Transformation
 Managing our finances – Investment and commercial opportunities
 Developing the public sector estate in West Suffolk
 Developing our people 

Transformation
Creation of a new council

The councils agreed and implemented, through an order in the Houses of Parliament, the 
creation of the new West Suffolk Council. This is one of the first of its kind in the UK requiring 
and receiving strong public and partner support. The creation of the new Council is part of 
both councils work to transform how local government works and drives prosperity for our 
communities and businesses; managing growth and attracting investment while meeting 
future financial challenges and opportunities. The new Council, which came into being from 
the beginning of April, also gives the area a louder voice to champion West Suffolk, while also 
being the right size to work with local organisations and communities to create place based 
initiatives. 

The new ward boundaries for West Suffolk Council were submitted to the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) and finalised in October 2018 following 
consultation. The wards were shaped by local groups, town and parish councils, as well as 
members of the public. 

The councils also undertook a comprehensive review of civic leadership arrangements and 
gained views from 494 individuals on what civic leadership should look like in future. The 
report was shaped by local and national research and evidence and showed people believed 
civic leadership is wider than just one person and about how councillors and local government 
should act.

Anglia Revenues Partnership 

Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) administers Council Tax, benefits and business rates and 
revenues on behalf of seven partner councils, including West Suffolk councils. 

Ways of working 

Page 60



43

In 2018-19, ARP has worked closely with West Suffolk councils’ Customer Services and 
Housing Options to ensure the smooth implementation of Universal Credit by forming a 
working group and action plan, involving stakeholders such as Citizens Advice, social housing 
landlords and the Department for Work and Pensions. 

Work was also undertaken by ARP in 2018-19 to amend the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme by removing the requirement for a Universal Credit claimant to complete an 
additional claim form. By using DWP data, ARP can assess entitlement, preventing the 
customer from having to unnecessarily complete a separate form. 

ARP’s Fraud and Compliance team has continued to work closely with West Suffolk councils’ 
Housing Options team by identifying and assisting residents who are having difficulties paying 
their rent by administering Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP). DHPs also assist those 
with rent arrears and help households to move to more affordable accommodation.

Other highlights from ARP include:

 Working closely with our Customer Services team to simplify and improve benefits and 
Council Tax services for our customers by developing and implementing online forms. 
In 2018-19, this resulted in 14,611 Council Tax and business rates bills being sent 
electronically and 2,775 Housing Benefit notifications being received electronically. 

 ARP’s Fraud and Compliance team worked closely with West Suffolk councils’ to identity 
£943,729 of fraud across West Suffolk in 2018-19. This includes Council Tax fraud, 
tenancy fraud and business rates fraud. 

Planning and development services

Our work and investment in supporting planning delivery has resulted in the average time 
taken to deal with a planning application improving by 25 per cent in the last two years. 
Some other highlights for our planning and development service are: 

 Preparation was undertaken in 2018-19 to ensure all Parish and Town Councils will be 
consulted electronically from May 2019 as the final part of our shift to paperless 
working.

 We introduced Planning Performance Agreements (PPA) over the last year to support 
developers. These are bespoke agreements between the Local Planning Authority and 
an applicant about the timing and processing of a planning application. Work is 
progressing on more PPA’s for the coming year.

 We have introduced newsletters/update briefings for Planning Agents and Parish/Town 
Councils to support our engagement in local and national planning updates

 We have held workshops for Parish/Town Councils covering material planning 
considerations, enforcements and electronic submissions

 The team dealt with just under 2900 applications, 92 of which were major 
developments of 10 dwellings or more and 483 of which were either 1-9 dwellings or 
other smaller non-residential development. 

 We served 14 enforcement and planning contravention notices.

Providing high quality building control services

Our building control team has had another successful and busy year and dealt with a range of 
matters. As well as continuing to promote the wellbeing and safety of the built environment 
for our community, we are also exceeding a number of our performance targets. Some 
highlights from 2018-19 include:

Page 61



44

 Three surveyors passing the new level six exam demonstrating their ability to work on 
high rise residential buildings and complex buildings, introduced following the Grenfell 
Tower tragedy.

 Dealt with 32 dangerous structures.
 Carried out 5,072 site inspections.
 Checked 90% of full plans applications within 15 working days and 79% within 10 

working days.
 Maintained our market share in the face of increasing competition.
 Supported multiple council projects including alterations to the Haverhill sports centre, 

West Suffolk Operational Hub and the Mildenhall hub.
 Began work on a collaborative building control service across Suffolk.
 Achieving ISO9001 quality assurance status. This is an internationally recognised 

Quality Management System standard which is being rolled out by Local Authority 
Building Control across the country. 

Managing our finances - Investment and commercial 
opportunities 
Examples of our commercial behaviours are included throughout this report, demonstrating 
where our investments are achieving outcomes for our communities in line with our strategic 
objectives. Some other specific examples are included below. 

20 High Street, Haverhill 

In May 2018, the councils purchased a Haverhill High Street property investment. Occupied 
by major retailer, Iceland Foods Ltd, the acquisition of 20 High Street forms a significant 
strategic investment by the councils to support the economy of the town centre, as well as 
providing a valuable revenue stream to help support the delivery of services.  The councils 
have invested a total capital sum of £1.97 million, including costs and stamp duty, which will 
provide an ongoing market return on the investment and illustrates our commitment to help 
deliver the town centre masterplan and the future prosperity of Haverhill.

30-35 High Street, Haverhill 

The councils purchased the former HSBC building on Haverhill High Street; an acquisition in a 
strategically important location which will act as a key catalyst for growth and delivery of the 
Haverhill Masterplan. The property borders an important pedestrian link to the bus station 
and leisure quarter and was bought for a total cost of £376,400. The potential for re-
development will help raise the quality and attractiveness of pedestrian walkways between 
the two, and ultimately provide income to help deliver valued council services. Whilst the 
options for re-development are appraised, interim uses will be sought both to help support 
the local community and provide a return to help cover holding costs. 

Managing our finances

As part of the preparations for becoming West Suffolk Council, a review of all contracts within 
Finance lead to several re-tenders and negotiations which delivered contractual savings on 
insurance, audit and treasury management that will be delivered in 2019-20.   

The West Suffolk Shadow Authority approved the creation of a Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for West Suffolk Council that balances out income and expenditure to 
2021. The MTFS highlights the change in relationship between central and local government 
through the increase in funding from locally influenced revenue streams such as business 

Page 62



45

rates, council tax and fees and charges, as well as reduction in central government grants. 
There are budget ‘gaps’ between the forecast income and expenditure beyond 2021 which will 
be impacted by future funding decisions for all local government within the central 
government Spending Review and Fair Funding Review. This position will be monitored and 
reviewed in next year’s MTFS.

Suffolk benefitted from the 100% Business Rates pilot in 2018-19. The additional £2.8 million 
of funding generated by this pilot enabled the district and county councils to invest in place-
based initiatives to drive inclusive growth across the region. The pilot built on the Business 
Rates Retention pool which Suffolk has successfully operated since 2013. This is unique 
nationally and reflects our ‘place based’ way of working which better supports both the urban 
and rural areas.

In 2015, the Local Audit and Accountability Act was published. A key area of these regulations 
was that from the 2017-18 financial year, the timetable for the preparation and approval of 
accounts will be brought forward to a draft accounts deadline of 31st May and an audit deadline 
of 31 July. Both councils met these new deadlines.

External funding

The councils have been successful in attracting external funding. Including grants we would 
expect, both councils received £51.36 million in funding in 2018-19, of which £48.62 million 
was revenue and £2.74 million capital. Some of the funding we received included Disabled 
Facilities Grans funding to help disabled households adapt their homes to ensure a better 
quality of life, Rough Sleeping Grant funding and Flexible Homelessness Support Grant to 
enable the councils to work towards reducing homelessness across West Suffolk and a 
contribution from Suffolk County Council towards One Step Closer; a project to help those 
who are not in education, employment or training (NEET) develop skills and secure 
opportunities. 

Toggam Solar Farm

Just as in its first two years, our solar farm has performed better than expected and is on target 
to generate its most electricity yet in a 12 month period.

In 2018-19 the solar farm generated 13,031 MWh compared to the 11,623 MWh that had been 
estimated. The electricity sold on and into the National Grid, is enough to power around 3,300 
homes and offset the Carbon Dioxide emissions from 1,500 cars. It has also helped Forest 
Heath establish itself as a carbon neutral council.

The solar farm also generated £1.39 million of income (against an income budget of £1.29 
million). After taking into account the operating costs and recouping some of the capital used 
to buy the solar farm, that has meant it is forecasting to generate £460,000 towards the 
funding of council services, compared to a budgeted £336,000.

Shared legal service

The shared legal service provides services for St Edmundsbury Borough Council, Forest Heath 
District Council (now West Suffolk Council) and Mid-Suffolk and Babergh councils. With 
recruitment agencies seeing a 20 per cent increase in locum placements due to a shortage of 
local authority lawyers, our service is defying the national trend with a full complement of 
officers in a team of 25. 

The service continues to perform without additional funding and has achieved year on year 
savings for the authorities.  

Page 63



46

The service is also developing its skills in order to support the councils’ growing business 
needs and has been able to offer and provide support, services and training to some of its 
neighbouring authorities.

Developing the public sector estate in West Suffolk
West Suffolk Operational Hub 

The West Suffolk Operational Hub (WSOH) is a partnership between West Suffolk Council and 
Suffolk County Council to manage waste by relocating a number of facilities to a single site. 
The aim of the hub is to increase efficiency, reduce costs and future-proof waste 
management for West Suffolk's growing communities. 
Construction contractors Morgan Sindall started on site in April 2018. The build is progressing 
well and is due for completion in October 2019, with a view to it being fully operational as a 
Depot, Household Waste Recycling Centre and Waste Transfer Station by the end of 2019.  

Western Way Development

Under the councils’ Investment Strategy for Growth, we have been seeking to invest in assets 
that help bring a mix of income or savings to support service delivery and bring economic, 
employment or other social benefits for our local communities.

The councils continued to work with public and commercial partners in 2018-19 to look at the 
regeneration project for the Western Way area to bring health, education and leisure services 
together. We have made progress with the project by purchasing an unused retail site on 
Anglian Lane in Bury St Edmunds which will support long term plans with partners to develop 
the Western Way area. There is an option that the site could retain a commercial use or take 
on a public sector use depending on how plans develop. It could also form part of the wider 
transport plan for the Western Way Development by providing off-site car parking. Whatever 
the option it will promote employment, skills and health improvements either directly or 
indirectly. In the short-term the councils will keep options open and will be looking for a 
temporary use to cover its costs for the tax payer. 

Mildenhall Hub

Work is now well underway to creating modern accessible services that are more financially 
resilient and better suited to the present and future needs of people living in Mildenhall and 
the surrounding area. 

This year we appointed building contractor RG Carter to carry out the construction work, with 
a £39million contract enabling works to begin in January 2019. Construction work began soon 
after in March. 

The Hub will include a new school, children’s centre, new leisure facilities, a health centre, 
and facilities for Suffolk Police, West Suffolk Council and Suffolk County Council, as well as a 
library, JobCentre, and Citizen’s Advice office.

Developing our people
Developing our staff  

 We have delivered 108 training events in 2018-19 and over 1061 staff attending 
courses. 

 We have continued to encourage and support staff with professional development 
opportunities, in particular through the introduction of the “development post”. This 
has enabled 35 members of staff to work towards professionally accredited training, 

Page 64



47

including 14 who are working towards an Institute of Leadership and Management 
qualification and six finance staff working towards an AAT or ACCA.  AAT is considered 
to be the first step towards becoming an accountant, while ACCA is an advanced 
qualification for people who already are accountants.

Developing our members

With the focus on becoming a new single council, this year our member development 
programme has focussed on specialist workshops and seminars. This included a seminar on 
Development Control highlighting key relevant topics, sessions on sustainable housing with a 
visit to a sustainable co-housing site in Colchester, and awareness raising sessions to inform 
members of Suffolk’s partnership response to ‘County Lines’. 

Improving mental health at work
Suffolk Wellbeing Charter 

Since November 2017, we have been working with a number of partners, neighbouring local 
authorities and hospitals to develop the Suffolk Workplace Wellbeing Charter.  The councils 
currently hold four levels of excellence and four levels of achievement against the eight 
standards of wellbeing. 

We have also helped develop a Healthy Workplace Award, a new workplace accreditation 
scheme, which recognises the efforts of organisations across the East of England to improve 
workplace health, with a commitment to helping organisations focus on the wellbeing of their 
staff. Any business, health, public or voluntary sector organisation can register their interest 
in achieving the standard. Achieving the award marks a clear commitment by organisations to 
keeping employees well at work, which in turn has a positive impact on morale and 
productivity.  

Case study: Our commitment to Mental Health 

As part of our commitment to raising awareness of mental health issues, the councils have 
trained 12 staff to be Mental Health First Aiders. The staff have all undertaken a Mental 
Health First Aider England training course, equipping them with the skills and confidence to 
spot some of the tell-tale signs of common mental health issues and signpost them to the 
appropriate help if required. 

Twenty of our training events also helped raise awareness of mental health issues. Topics 
included stress awareness, resilience and increasing manager’s awareness of mental health 
issues. 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Ways we have supported our rural communities in 2018-19
Examples are listed in the order they appear in the report.

Supporting rural 
businesses

We worked with Suffolk County Council to secure Defra Broadband funding to help extend 
broadband to more businesses in rural areas across West Suffolk. 

Small business grants We supported a number of small businesses in rural areas including a land maintenance 
business. More information on how we have supported local businesses by awarding small 
business grants can be found on page nine. 

Ixworth Patient Association We supported a rural transport scheme to help patients with transport problems access their 
local health centre, as well as developing a number of activities to improve health and 
wellbeing. More information about this initiative can be found on page 20.  

The Shed, West Row The Shed provides an area for people to come together, volunteer their time, build 
relationships and enjoy the company of others. The project grew in 2018-19, with work being 
completed to improve the appearance of the area and events were held by volunteers. 
Further information about the councils’ role in enabling the project can be found on page 21.

War Memorial, Red Lodge We supported a rural community with taking forward proposals to provide Red Lodge with a 
new war memorial. More information about this project can be found on page 21.

Home Start The councils helped expand Home Start to rural areas including Honington, Brandon and 
Stanton. The service provided vital support and practical help to parents and families facing 
challenges. Further information about how he supported this service in 2018-19 can be found 
on page 21. 

Hedgehogs Café, Rougham We helped set up a community café for residents of Rougham, Rushbrooke and Bradfield St 
George to help combat loneliness and isolation.  More information about the initiative can be 
found on page 22. 

P
age 67



West Suffolk Parish 
Conference

We held our second West Suffolk Town and Parish Conference in October 2018. The 
conference gives town and parish councils the opportunity to exchange information, share 
experiences and grow their knowledge by hearing from expert speakers and taking part in 
workshops. More information about the 2018 conference can be found on page 23. 

Togetherness Fayre The councils’ interns held an event to help raise awareness of loneliness and isolation; a 
problem particularly prevalent in our rural communities.  More information about the fayre 
can be found on page 25.

Locality budgets The councils’ locality budget scheme supported a number of initiatives in rural communities, 
including opening a Multi-Use Games Area in Risby. More information about how the councils 
supported community project with funding can be found on page 26.

Parks West Stow Country Park retained its Green Flag status in 2018-19, along with other parks 
across West Suffolk. Awards are given to parks that are safe, clean and well looked after. 
Further details about our parks can be found on page 27.  

Neighbourhood Plans We provided guidance and assistance to the community of Hargrave to help them develop the 
Hargrave Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2031. More details about how the councils supported 
communities with neighbourhood planning can be found on page 35. 

Bringing empty properties 
back into use

We worked with the owner of a long term empty property in the village of Exning to help 
bring the property back into use. A case study with further details about this project can be 
found on page 37. 

Improving standards in the 
private rented sector

We carried out Impact Days alongside Suffolk Fire and Rescue service across rural areas in 
West Suffolk, including Ixworth and Lakenheath. The officers carried out checks on safety 
standards in flats above commercial properties. More information on how we have been 
working to improve the quality of existing housing can be found on pages 36-38. 

P
age 68



Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
13 June 2019 –OAS/WS/19/003

Decisions Plan: 1 
June 2019 to 31 May 
2020
Report No: OAS/WS/19/003
Report to and date: Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 13 June 2019

Cabinet Member: Councillor John Griffiths (Leader)
Tel: 07958 700434
Email: john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer: Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Tel: 01638 719729
Email: Christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

Wards impacted:

This report refers to items which are listed in the 
Cabinet’s Decisions Plan.

All wards.

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee:

(1) Peruses the Decisions Plan for items on 
which they would like to receive further 
information on, or which they feel might 
benefit from the Committee’s involvement 
during the coming year: or 

(2) Notes the contents of the report.

Page 69

Agenda Item 6

mailto:john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:Christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 
13 June 2019 –OAS/WS/19/003

1. Background / Context

1.1 Holding the Cabinet to Account

1.1.2 Part of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s role is to hold the Cabinet to 
account for the discharge of its functions.  The principal elements by which it 
will do this is as follows:

(a) Scrutinising decisions which the Cabinet is planning to take, as set out 
in the Decisions Plan, or of which proper notice is given (including 
decisions referred to it in accordance with paragraph 6.6.2 of Article 6 
of the Constitution).

(b) Scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet and individual Portfolio Holders 
before they are implemented and if necessary, using the “call-in” 
mechanism to require the decision taker to reconsider the earlier 
decision.

(c) Scrutinising decisions of the Cabinet or Portfolio Holders after they 
have been implemented as part of a wider review.

2. Proposals

2.1 Attached as Appendix 1 is the most recently published version of the 
Decisions Plan to be considered by Cabinet for the period 1 June 2019 to 31 
May 2020.

2.2 Members are invited to peruse the Decisions Plan for items on which they 
would like to receive further information on, or which they feel might benefit 
from the Committee’s involvement during the coming year.

2.3 Members are asked to note that the Performance and Audit Scrutiny 
Committee, in most instances will receive reports on Financial, Audit and 
Governance related items published in the Decisions Plan.

3.

3.1

4.

4.1

5.

5.1

Alternative Options 

Not applicable.  

Consultation and engagement

Not applicable. 

Risks

Not applicable.
6.

6.1

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Decisions Plan: 1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020. 

7.

7.1

Background documents

Not applicable.

Page 70



West Suffolk Council  

APPENDIX 1

Page 1 of 15

Decisions Plan

Key Decisions and other executive decisions to be considered
Date: 1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020
Publication Date:  24 May 2019

The following plan shows both the key decisions and other decisions/matters taken in private, that the Cabinet, Portfolio Holders, 
Joint Committees or Officers under delegated authority, are intending to take up to 31 May 2020.  This table is updated on a 
monthly rolling basis and provides at least 28 clear days’ notice of the consideration of any key decisions and of the taking of any 
items in private.  

Executive decisions are taken at public meetings of the Cabinet and by other bodies / individuals provided with executive decision-
making powers.  Some decisions and items may be taken in private during the parts of the meeting at which the public may be 
excluded, when it is likely that confidential or exempt information may be disclosed.  This is indicated on the relevant meeting 
agenda and in the ‘Reason for taking the item in private’ column relevant to each item detailed on the plan.

Members of the public may wish to:
- make enquiries in respect of any of the intended decisions listed below;
- receive copies of any of the documents in the public domain listed below;
- receive copies of any other documents in the public domain relevant to those matters listed below which may be submitted to 

the decision taker; or
- make representations in relation to why meetings to consider the listed items intended for consideration in private should be 

open to the public.

In all instances, contact should be made with the named Officer in the first instance, either on the telephone number listed against 
their name, or via email using the format firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk or via West Suffolk Council, West Suffolk House, 
Western Way, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3YU.

P
age 71

mailto:firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Page 2 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

No earlier 
than 
25/06/19

Housing Delivery Plan: 
Update on First Phase
The Cabinet may be asked 
to approve a housing 
delivery plan for West 
Suffolk.  The Plan will set 
out a range of actions and 
interventions that the 
Council can take to 
increase the rate of 
housing delivery 
developed from a detailed 
analysis of the local 
housing market.

Not applicable (D) Cabinet Sara Mildmay-
White
Housing 
01359 270580

Julie Baird
Assistant Director 
(Growth)
01284 757613

Simon Phelan 
Service Manager 
(Strategic 
Housing)
01638 719440

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
draft delivery 
plan.

June/
Septem-
ber 2019

Western Way 
Development – 
Business Case
Following approval of the 
outline business case in 
October 2018, the Cabinet 
will be asked to consider 
recommending to Council, 
approval of the full 
Business Case for the 
proposed Western Way 
Development.

Possible Exempt 
Appendices: 
Paragraph 3

(R) – Council 
July / 
September 
2019

Cabinet /
Council

Jo Rayner
Leisure, Culture 
and Community 
Hubs
07872 456836

Alex Wilson
Director
01284 757695

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
recommendati
ons to Council 
with the 
possibility of 
Exempt 
Appendices.

P
age 72



Page 3 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

23/07/19 West Suffolk Annual 
Report 2018/2019
Following scrutiny by the 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the Cabinet 
will be asked to consider 
the West Suffolk Annual 
Report 2018/2019.

Not applicable (D) Cabinet John Griffiths 
Leader of the 
Council
01284 757001

Davina Howes
Assistant Director
(Families and 
Communities)
01284 757070

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
draft Annual 
Report.

23/07/19 Revenues Collection 
Performance and Write 
Offs
The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider writing-off 
outstanding debts, as 
detailed in the exempt 
appendices.

Exempt 
Appendices: 
Paragraphs 1 and 
2

(KD) Cabinet Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director 
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
exempt 
appendices.

10/09/19 Annual Treasury 
Management Report 
2018/2019 and 
Investment Activity 1 
April to 30 June 2018
The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider the 
recommendations of the 
Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee 
regarding the seeking 
approval for the Annual 
Treasury Management 

Not applicable (R) – Council 
17/09/19

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director 
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Recommend-
ations of the 
Performance 
and Audit 
Scrutiny 
Committee to 
Cabinet and 
Council.

P
age 73



Page 4 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

Report for 2018/2019, 
which summarised the 
investment activities for 
the period 1 April to 30 
June 2018. 

08/10/19

(Deferred 
from 
23/07/19)

Review of West 
Suffolk’s Safeguarding 
Policy
In July 2018, the 
Government updated its 
statutory guidance 
‘Working Together to 
Safeguard Children: A 
guide to inter-agency 
working to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of 
children.’  The document 
sets out the legislative 
requirements and 
expectations of how key 
partners, including local 
authorities, should 
safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children.  

West Suffolk Council will 
therefore review its 
Safeguarding Policy to 
reflect the updated 
guidance.

Not applicable (D) Cabinet Sara Mildmay-
White
Housing 
01359 270580

Simon Phelan
Service Manager 
(Strategic 
Housing)
01638 719440

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
draft policy.P

age 74



Page 5 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

08/10/19 West Suffolk’s 
Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy
In response to 
fundamental changes to 
legislation and additional 
duties introduced through 
the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017, a new 
Homelessness Reduction 
Strategy for West Suffolk 
was adopted in June 2018. 

The Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local 
Government introduced its 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 
in August 2018 and a 
delivery plan in December 
2018.  It requires local 
authorities to update their 
Homelessness Reduction 
Strategies and rebadge 
them to include rough 
sleeping.

Not applicable (D) Cabinet Sara Mildmay-
White
Housing 
01359 270580

Davina Howes
Assistant Director
(Families and 
Communities)
01284 757070

All Wards Recommend-
ations of the 
Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
to Cabinet 
with draft 
policy and 
action plan.P

age 75



Page 6 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

26/11/19 Revenues Collection 
Performance and Write 
Offs
The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider writing-off 
outstanding debts, as 
detailed in the exempt 
appendices.

Exempt 
Appendices: 
Paragraphs 1 and 
2

(KD) Cabinet Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director 
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
exempt 
appendices.

26/11/19 Delivering a Sustainable 
Budget 2020/2021
The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider 
recommendations of the 
Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee for 
recommending to Council 
on proposals for achieving 
a sustainable budget in 
2020/2021.

Not applicable (D)

Consideration 
by Council will 
take place as 
part of the 
budget setting 
paper on 
25/02/20

Cabinet Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report of the 
Performance 
and Audit 
Scrutiny 
Committee to 
Cabinet.

26/11/19 Council Tax Base for 
Tax Setting Purposes 
2020/2021
The Cabinet will be asked 
to recommend to Council 
the basis of the formal 
calculation for the Council 
Tax Base for West Suffolk 
Council for the financial 
year 2020/2021.

Not applicable (R) – Council 
17/12/19

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
recommend-
ations to 
Council.

P
age 76



Page 7 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

26/11/19 Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and 
Council Tax Technical 
Changes 2019/2020

The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider proposals for 
the Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and 
Council Tax technical 
changes for West Suffolk 
Council prior to seeking its 
approval by Council.

Not applicable (R) – Council 
17/12/19 

Or

17/12/19

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
recommend-
ations to 
Council.

14/01/20 Delivering a Sustainable 
Budget 2020/2021

Further to its consideration 
on 26 November 2019, the 
Cabinet will be asked to 
consider recommendations 
of the Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny 
Committee for 
recommending to Council 
on proposals for achieving 
a sustainable budget in 
2020/2021.

Not applicable (D)

Consideration 
by Council will 
take place as 
part of the 
budget setting 
paper on 
25/02/20

Cabinet Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Recommend-
ations of the 
Performance 
and Audit 
Scrutiny 
Committee to 
Cabinet.

P
age 77



Page 8 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

14/01/20 Treasury Management 
Report 2019/2020 – 
Investment Activity 
(1 April to 30 
September 2019)
The Cabinets will be asked 
to consider the 
recommendations of the 
Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee and 
recommend to Council, the 
approval of the Treasury 
Management Report 2019-
2020 which summarised 
the investment activity for 
the period 1 April to 30 
September 2019.

Not applicable (R) – Council 
25/02/20

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director 
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Recommend-
ations of the 
Performance 
and Audit 
Scrutiny 
Committee to 
Cabinet and 
Council.

11/02/20 Delivering a Sustainable 
Budget 2020/2021
Further to its consideration 
on previous occasions, the 
Cabinet will be asked to 
consider recommendations 
of the Performance and 
Audit Scrutiny 
Committee for 
recommending to Council 
on proposals for achieving 
a sustainable budget in 
2020/2021.

Not applicable (D)

Consideration 
by Council will 
take place as 
part of the 
budget setting 
paper on 
25/02/20

Cabinet Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report of the 
Performance 
and Audit 
Scrutiny 
Committee to 
Cabinet.

P
age 78



Page 9 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

11/02/20 Budget and Council Tax 
Setting 2020/2021 and 
Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 
The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider the proposals 
for the 2019/2020 budget 
(and beyond) and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 
for West Suffolk Council, 
prior to its approval by 
Council.  This report 
includes the Minimum 
Revenues Provision (MRP) 
Policy and Prudential 
Indicators.

Not applicable (R) – Council 
25/02/20

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
recommend-
ations to 
Council.

11/02/20 Annual Treasury 
Management and 
Investment Strategy 
2020/2021 and 
Treasury Management 
Code of Practice
The Cabinet will be asked 
to recommend to Council, 
approval of the Treasury 
Management and 
Investment Strategy 
2020/2021 and Treasury 
Management Code of 
Practice for West Suffolk 

Not applicable (R) – Council 
25/02/20

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
recommend-
ations to 
Council.

P
age 79



Page 10 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

Council, which must be 
undertaken before the 
start of each financial 
year.

11/02/20 Revenues Collection 
Performance and Write 
Offs
The Cabinet will be asked 
to consider writing-off 
outstanding debts, as 
detailed in the exempt 
appendices.

Exempt 
Appendices: 
Paragraphs 1 and 
2

(KD) Cabinet Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director 
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
exempt 
appendices.

24/03/20 Treasury Management 
Report 2019/2020 – 
Investment Activity 
(1 April to 31 December 
2019)
The Cabinets will be asked 
to consider the 
recommendations of the 
Performance and Audit 
Scrutiny Committee and 
recommend to Council, the 
approval of the Treasury 
Management Report 2019-
2020 which summarised 
the investment activity for 
the period 1 April to 31 
December 2019.

Not applicable (R) – Council 
31/03/20

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah Broughton
Resources and 
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Assistant Director 
(Resources and 
Performance)
01638 719245

All Wards Recommend-
ations of the 
Performance 
and Audit 
Scrutiny 
Committee to 
Cabinet and 
Council.

P
age 80



Page 11 of 15

Expected 
Decision 
Date

Subject and Purpose of 
Decision

Reason for 
taking item in 
private
(see Note 1 for 
relevant exempt 
paragraphs)

Decision 
(D), Key 
Decision 
(KD) or 
Rec (R) to 
Council on 
date

(see Note 2 
for Key 
Decision 
definitions)  

Decision 
Taker
(see Note 3 
for 
membership)

Portfolio Holder 
Contact Details

Lead Officer 
Contact Details

Wards 
Affected

Documents 
to be 
submitted

24/03/20 West Suffolk Pay Policy 
Statement 2020/2021 
The Cabinets will Council 
approval of the Pay Policy 
Statement for 2020/2021, 
together with the Gender 
Pay Gap Report contained 
within it.

Not applicable (R) Council – 
31/03/20

Cabinet /
Council

Carol Bull
Governance
07767 472419

Wendy Canham
Service Manager 
(Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development)
01284 757006

All Wards Report to 
Cabinet with 
recommend-
ations to 
Council.

P
age 81



Page 12 of 15

NOTE 1: DEFINITIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: RELEVANT PARAGRAPHS

In accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
The public may be excluded from all or part of the meeting during the consideration of items of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information defined in Schedule 12(A) of the Act, as follows:

PART 1
DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND

1. Information relating to any individual.
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that  

information).
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with 

any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, 
the authority.

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes –

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime.

In accordance with Section 100A(3) (a) and (b) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
Confidential information is also not for public access, but the difference between this and exempt information is that a Government 
department, legal opinion or the court has prohibited its disclosure in the public domain.  Should confidential information require 
consideration in private, this will be detailed in this Decisions Plan.

P
age 82



Page 13 of 15

NOTE 2: KEY DECISION DEFINITION

A key decision is an executive decision that either:

(a) Results in new expenditure, or a reduced income or savings of more than £100k in any one year that has not otherwise 
been included in the Council’s revenue or capital budgets.

(b) Comprises or includes the making, approval or publication of a draft or final scheme, which is not a routine business 
decision, that may require, either directly or in the event of objections, the approval of a Minister of the Crown.

(c) Results in the formation of a new company, limited liability partnership or joint venture.

(d) Has a potentially detrimental impact on communities outside of West Suffolk District.

(e) Is a decision that is significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in a definable local community in 
the District, or on one or more wards, in that it will:

(i) Have a long-term, lasting impact on that community; or
(ii) Restrict the ability of individual businesses or residents in that area to undertake particular activities; or
(iii) Removes the provision of a service or facility for that community; or
(iv) Increases the charges payable by members of the community to provide a service or facility by more 

than 5%; or
(v) Have the potential to create significant local controversy or reputational damage to the Council

(f) A matter that the decision maker considers to be a key decision.

(g) Any matters that fall under the scope of e) above must be subject to consultation with the local Member(s) in Wards 
that are likely to be impacted by the decision prior to the decision being made.

P
age 83



Page 14 of 15

NOTE 3: MEMBERSHIP OF BODIES MAKING KEY DECISIONS

(a) Membership of West Suffolk Council’s Cabinet and their Portfolios

Cabinet Member Portfolio
John Griffiths Leader of the Council
Sara Mildmay-White Deputy Leader of the Council/

Housing

Sarah Broughton Portfolio Holder for Resources and 
Performance

Carol Bull Portfolio Holder for Governance
Andy Drummond Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regulation
Robert Everitt Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities
Susan Glossop Portfolio Holder for Growth
Jo Rayner Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and 

Community Hubs
Peter Stevens Portfolio Holder for Operations

P
age 84



Page 15 of 15

(b) Membership of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee (Breckland Council, East Cambridgeshire 
District Council, East Suffolk Council, Fenland District Council and West Suffolk Council  MEMBERSHIP TO BE 
CONFIRMED

Full Breckland 
Cabinet Member

Full East 
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 
Cabinet Member

Full East Suffolk 
Council Cabinet 
Member

Full Fenland 
District Council 
Cabinet Member

Full West Suffolk 
Council Cabinet 
Member

Substitute Breckland 
Cabinet Members

Substitute East 
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 
Cabinet Members

Substitute East 
Suffolk Council 
Cabinet Members

Substitute Fenland 
District Council 
Cabinet Members

Substitute West 
Suffolk Council 
Cabinet Members

Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring Officer
Date: 24 May 2019

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 - OAS/WS/19/004

Appointments to the 
Suffolk County Council 
Health Scrutiny 
Committee (2019-2020)
Report No: OAS/WS/19/004

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 13 June 2019

Report to and 
dates:

Council 
(Appointments to SCC 
Health Scrutiny)

16 July 2019

Chairman of the 
Committee:

Councillor David Nettleton
Tel: 01284 702212
Email: david.nettleton@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer: Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Tel: 01638 719729
Email: Christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

Wards impacted:

This item is not included in the Decisions Plan.

Not applicable.

Recommendation: It is RECOMMENDED that, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee:

(1) Nominates one Member, and one Substitute 
Member to the Suffolk Health Scrutiny 
Committee for 2019-2020, for confirmation 
by Council.

Page 87

Agenda Item 7

mailto:david.nettleton@westsuffolk.gov.uk
mailto:Christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 - OAS/WS/19/004

1. Background 

1.1 Suffolk County Council Health Scrutiny Committee

1.2 The Health Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising wellbeing and 
health services across the county.  The committee has 10 members in total, 
five county councillors and one co-opted representative from each of the 
District and Borough Councils in Suffolk.  These councillors are from across 
political groups and are not members of their Council’s Cabinet Committee.

1.3 The committee has established a Joint Health Scrutiny Committee with Essex 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, on a task and finish group basis, 
to scrutinise issues relating to the implementation of the NHS Suffolk and 
North East Essex Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).  The joint 
committee consists of four representatives from Suffolk and four 
representatives from Essex.

2. Nominations

2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be asked to nominate on an 
annual basis one member, and one substitute member to serve on the 
Suffolk County Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee.  

2.2 Members should ideally be nominated from the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, although this is not essential as the necessary training 
will be given by the County.

2.3 Attached at Appendix 1 to this report is an extract from the Suffolk County 
Council’s Constitution, which sets out the role of the Health Scrutiny 
Committee.

2.4 The Health Scrutiny Committee meets four times a year.  Below are the 
dates currently scheduled for 2019-2020:

Wednesday 10 July 2019 Endeavour House, 8 Russell 
Road, Ipswich

10am

Wednesday 9 October 2019 Endeavour House, 8 Russell 
Road, Ipswich

10am

Wednesday 15 January 2020 Endeavour House, 8 Russell 
Road, Ipswich

10am

Wednesday 22 April 2020 Endeavour House, 8 Russell 
Road, Ipswich

10am

2.5 Nominations put forward by the committee will need to be confirmed by 
Council on 16 July 2019.

3.

3.1

4.

4.1

Alternative Options 

Not applicable.  

Consultation and engagement

Not applicable.  

Page 88



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
13 June 2019 - OAS/WS/19/004

5.

5.1

Risks

Not applicable. 

6.

6.1

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Extract from Suffolk County Council Constitution – Role of the 
Health Scrutiny Committee.  

7.

7.1

Background documents

None

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
Extract from the Suffolk County Council Constitution

Part 1

10.4   Health Scrutiny Committee 

10.4.1   The Council will appoint a Health Scrutiny Committee to review and 
scrutinise, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, 
matters relating to the health service in Suffolk and to make reports 
and recommendations on such matters in accordance with the 
regulations. 

10.4.2   The role of the Health Scrutiny Committee will be to invite and 
consider comments from interested parties. Interested parties will 
include: 

   Local patient and carer organisations,
   Local Healthwatch organisations,
 The Health and Wellbeing Board,
   NHS Trusts in Suffolk,
   Consultations on substantial variation

These representations will help to develop a forward work programme, 
and will be included in any matters to be considered. 

10.4.3 The Health Scrutiny Committee has responsibility for the scrutiny of 
wellbeing and health services across the county and may review and 
scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation 
of health services in the county. 

10.4.4 The Health Scrutiny Committee may establish joint arrangements for 
the scrutiny of health matters, including the appointment of a joint 
committee, with one or more local authorities, to exercise the 
functions relevant to the Health Scrutiny Committee. 

10.4.5 The Health Scrutiny Committee may make reports and 
recommendations to the appropriate person(s) or body, on any matter 
that it has reviewed or scrutinised. 

10.4.6 The Health Scrutiny Committee must be consulted where any 
responsible person (defined in the regulations) has under 
consideration any proposal for a substantial development of the health 
service in the county, or for a substantial variation. The Committee 
may report to the Secretary of State if it is not satisfied that 
consultation on any proposal has been adequate in relation to content 
or time allowed, where it is not satisfied with any reasons given for 
not consulting, and where it considers that the proposal would not be 
in the best interests of the health service in the county. 

10.4.7 The Health Scrutiny Committee may establish such task and finish 
groups and, where appropriate, appoint the Chairman from within the 
membership of the Health Scrutiny Committee but with such other 
membership as it sees fit, to undertake scrutiny on a task and finish 
basis. Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Community Safety Monitoring Report
	OAS.WS.19.001 - Appendix A - WS Community Safety Partnership Plan 2019 -2022

	5 Draft West Suffolk Councils' Annual Report (2018-2019)
	OAS.WS.19.002 - Appendix A - Draft West Suffolk Annual Report 2018-2019
	OAS.WS.19.002 - Appendix 1 - Ways we have supported our rural communities in 2018-19

	6 Cabinet Decisions Plan: 7 May 2019 to 31 May 2020
	OAS.WS.19.003 - Appendix 1 - Cabinet Decisions Plan - 1 June 2019 to 31 May 2020

	7 Appointments to the Suffolk County Council Health Scrutiny Committee (2019-2020)
	OAS.WS.19.004 - Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference - SCC Health Scrutiny Committee


